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Conference Program of Events
Saskatchewan Association of Architects

MidSize: An Exploration of Architectural Opportunity in the Middle
Elk Ridge Resort, Saskatchewan

THURSDAY MAY 3 – WAPITI BALLROOM, ELK RIDGE RESORT
4:00 – 7:00 pm

Conference Registration

7:30 – 7:45 pm

Welcome to the 2018 SAA Conference

7:45 – 9:00 pm

Introduction to 2018 Venice Architecture Biennale Entry: “Unceded: Voices of the Land”
– Ray Gosselin and Jason Surkan

9:00 – 11:00 pm

Hospitality Suite

FRIDAY MAY 4 – WAPITI BALLROOM, ELK RIDGE RESORT
7:30 – 8:30 am

Breakfast and Conference Registration

8:30 – 9:00 am

Welcome and Opening Remarks

9:00 – 10:30 am

Keynote Address – Roberto de Leon of de Leon and Primmer Architecture Workshop,
Louisville Kentucky

10:30 – 11:00 am

Refreshment/Coffee Break

11:00 am – 12:00 pm

Monica Adair of Acre Architects, Saint John New Brunswick

12:00 – 1:15 pm

Lunch

1:15 – 2:15 pm

Sylvia Cheuy of The Tamarack Institute, Caledon Ontario

2:15 – 2:35 pm

Refreshment/Coffee Break

2:35 – 3:35 pm

Peter Sampson and Liz Wreford of Public City Architecture, Winnipeg Manitoba

3:35 – 4:00 pm

What’s happening in the middle? President’s Wrap Up

4:00 – 6:00 pm

1:1 – Meet and Greet with the Speakers

7:00 – 9:00 pm

Dinner

9:00 pm – 11:00 pm

Hospitality Suite
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SATURDAY MAY 5 – WAPITI BALLROOM, ELK RIDGE RESORT
8:00 – 8:50 am

Breakfast and Conference Registration

8:50 – 9:00 am

Welcome and Opening Remarks

9:00 – 9:45 am

Member Forum Session 1

9:45 – 10:15 am

Member Forum Session 2

10:15 – 10:45 am

Refreshment/Coffee Break

10:45 am – 11:45 pm

Member Forum Session 3

11:45 am – 12:15 pm

Member Forum Session 4

12:15 – 1:15 pm

Lunch

1:15 – 3:45 pm

Saskatchewan Association of Architects Annual General Meeting (SAA AGM)

4:00 – 5:00 pm

SAA Council Meeting

6:00 – 7:00 pm

Champagne Reception

7:00 – 9:00 pm

President’s Dinner

9:00 pm – 1:00 am

Hospitality Suite
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Annual General Meeting
May 5, 2018
1:15 pm Wapiti Ballroom
Elk Ridge Resort, Saskatchewan

AGENDA
Chairperson: Jeanna South, President
1. Call to Order
2. President’s Welcome
3. Acceptance of the Agenda
4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2017 Annual General Meeting
5. Introduction of Council Member Nominees
6. Reports
Questions from SAA Membership regarding all reports published in the 2017 Annual Report
7. Acceptance of Reports
8. Bylaw Amendments
9. Election of Council Members
10. Appointment of Accountants for the year ending December 31, 2018
11. Other Business
12. Adjournment
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President
Jeanna South
The mission of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects is to provide regulation, leadership, and guidance in the
practice of architecture for the benefit of the public and the membership.
As we set off into the 2017-2018 Council year and my term as President, I have to admit that I didn’t know what to
expect. In 2017, the SAA Council was addressing the need for a permanent Executive Director, our Education
Committee was working hard to clarify and improve processes around continuing education, and more and more
practice items were coming to the SAA to review for possible bylaw infractions. All of this in an environment where the
Saskatchewan economy was still in recovery mode. At the time of writing this report, members continue to closely
monitor the availability of local work, while Council watch association memberships, firm licences, proposal requests,
and bylaw compliance for impacts within this challenging context. Although the SAA Council can’t direct the
Saskatchewan economy, I am very pleased to say that we have come through the other side of 2017 and many good
things have been accomplished.
One way to measure the year is to review the 2017 statistics, and in this case I refer to the Canadian Architectural
Licensing Authority national demographics report from June 2017. Nationally, there were 10,136 registered
architects plus 3,515 interns for a total of 13,651. Looking closer at the 2017 resident data for Saskatchewan, we
find a total of 106 registered Architects and 23 interns. We rank 6th out of 12 provincial regulators in registered local
members, putting us in the middle of the field. 19% of our registered resident architects are women, compared with a
national average of 31%. Women make up 48% of our interns, compared to 50% nationally. Further, 44% of our local
combined members are over 50 years of age.1
As an indicator for our association’s organizational sustainability, it is good to understand the total SAA membership
data. Over the past two years, our total membership has been relatively stable, with 422 members in 2017, and 423
in 2016. Prior to this, in 2015 we had 25 more members, for a total of 448. Resident numbers have remained
relatively stable over this same period with: 111 in 2015; 107 in 2016; and 106 in 2017.

Strategic Priority Implementation
In order to address the multivalent nature of the issues and challenges facing the SAA in 2017, Council decided that
strategic, long-term planning must be advanced alongside the daily issues that arise through the course of our work
as a self-regulating profession. Our June 2017 Council meeting was different from the norm, in that it involved an
orientation on Council’s roles and responsibilities for our new councillors and a refresher for those returning. This was
followed by a workshop to revisit and clarify our strategic plan, which built on our work in 2016. For new work, we
took a detailed look at Council’s near-term and longer-term priorities. Many thanks to Laurie Njaa and Whitney
Robson for working with me to plan and facilitate this session, and for Council’s enthusiastic participation. Please
refer to the ‘Strategic Planning and Priorities 2017-2019’ section of the annual report for more detail on the strategic
plan implementation tasks.

1. CALA 2017 National Demographics Report
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THERE ARE THREE STRATEGIC GOALS AS FOLLOWS:

1) Business: To administer and enhance the understanding of the regulatory role and duties of the association by
Council and the membership (including measurable outcomes).
2) Membership: To increase practice support and learning opportunities for members, interns and students, i.e.
skill proficiency and competency.
3) Advocacy: To engage and promote literacy regarding architecture and the role of architects. To maintain and
enhance relationships with government, industry, organizations and other associations.
One of the primary reasons for revisiting the 2016 strategic planning work was to ensure that priorities and tasks
were clearly outlined for the next 4 years. In volunteer-driven organizations like the SAA, clearly articulated tasks
allow Council to be aware and direct committee work, to remain accountable as a regulator and through that to the
membership, and to be able to track the metrics of the work completed over time.
SOME OF THE PRIORITY PROJECTS AND TASKS COMPLETED TO DATE ARE:

• Whitney Robson was hired as permanent Executive Director. I note that Daniel Reeves worked tirelessly on this item;
• Completion of the 2018 budget, including planning for a three-year budget outlook. This item works to address
membership concerns around budget planning input and engagement. This work is a great example of our
Council representative, Daniel, working very closely with our Executive Director to create a sustainable plan that
responds to our current economic climate. The budget plans for short-term capital outputs, such as the database
implementation, in order to attain long-term operating benefits as well as enhanced regulatory accountability;
• The Continuing Education (Con Ed) focus group completed a review of proposed changes. Many thanks to those
who participated, and to Laurie Njaa, Chris Kailing and Tammi Denby for facilitating these sessions with our members;
• Adoption of an office policies document;
• Approval of the terms of reference for the SAA Executive Committee, a Special Committee of Council who take
on duties and prepare recommendations for Council in the areas of staff engagement, Council or committee
members’ engagement and councillors vacancies;
• Creation of expense claim guidelines.
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The majority of the 1-2 year strategic priority tasks have been started and are currently in progress. The table below
outlines the ongoing tasks, percentages complete and the projected completion dates.
Task

Percentage Complete

Projected Completion

Plan/scoping & budget preparation for Strat Plan 2019-2021

1%

12/2018

SAA administrative database

15%

12/2018

Privacy policy

10%

12/2018

Discipline manual

90%

4/2018

SAA Fee Schedule revisions

15%

8/2018

Revisions to application for core Con Ed to align with regulatory requirements

20%

5/2018

Register clean-up

75%

6/2018

1. Business: Council Infrastructure & Accountability

2. Membership: Member Services & Outreach; Professional Development and Continuing Education
School of Architecture
(more detail on the status of this initiative has been provided in the separate report)

60%

9/2019

Communications to members regarding unreasonable RFP conditions

50%

6/2018

Increase support for first registration

5%

2/2018

Developing 2018-2020 Con Ed program revisions

85%

4/2018

Increased communication on Con Ed requirements

Ongoing

Ongoing

Website classified ads

90%

5/2018

Website update and review

10%

6/2019

Community awareness/promotion of the profession/ “The Value of Architecture” project

5%

12/2018

3. Advocacy: Public Outreach

So, how are we doing overall at implementing the strategic plan this year? Of the 27 near-term tasks set by Council in
2017, 5 are completed, 17 are underway, and 5 are yet to be started. Of the 36 long-term tasks, 2 are completed, 4
are underway and 30 are yet to be started. In summary, we’ve made a good start at addressing some of our priority
items, but there is still much work to do going into this next Council term.
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2016 AGM Takeaways
The strategic plan priorities have been influenced by our discussions with members at the last AGM. The May 2017
AGM was a great opportunity to hear from many of you directly and one of the key issues brought forward by the
membership was on the topic of Con Ed and its administration. Because of this, Council committed to the following
actions to move forward through the 2016-2018 Con Ed cycle:
1) Minor revisions for clarity to the Con Ed guide, avoiding major changes mid-stream of the 2016-2018 reporting cycle.
2) Distribution of a survey on Con Ed and establishment of a Con Ed focus group, in order to gather information
from members prior to implementing significant changes.
3) Following a review of the feedback, revisions to the process and handbook in preparation for the 2018-2020
reporting cycle.

Canadian Architectural Licensing Authority
In addition to the monitoring and implementation of strategic priorities, part of the President’s role is to liaise with
other provincial regulators. A national group of provincial regulators meet semi-annually as what constitutes the
Canadian Architectural Licensing Authority (CALA). In 2017, CALA met in Ottawa in May and Montreal in October.
James Youck, Whitney Robson, and myself attend both meetings as SAA representatives. A detailed summary and
update on CALA can be found in the ‘Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities’ section of the annual report.
The Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB) is jointly supported and responsible to CALA and the CCUSA
(Canadian Certified University Schools of Architecture) so their work is discussed in the CALA meetings. CALA
approvals this year included approval for the CACB budget, as well as renewed procedures for Architectural School
Accreditation for 2018. Architectural school accreditation visits occur regularly, and teams of registered architects
and educators from the SAA and other jurisdictions are responsible for providing recommendations regarding
accreditation. If you are interested in being part of a future architecture school accreditation team, please contact the
SAA office and they will provide you with more information.

School of Architecture and the Visual Arts
Another key piece to the President’s portfolio of work is participation in the Steering Committee for the School of
Architecture, alongside members Bob Burnyeat and Dave Edwards. Further information on SAVA can be found in the
‘School of Architecture and Visual Arts’ section of the annual report.

Conclusion
In reviewing the 2017 Annual Report, it should quickly become apparent that councillors, volunteers, and our staff have
dedicated many hours to the operation of the SAA and the regulation of the architectural profession in Saskatchewan.
The work of our members and interns on committees and sub-committees is invaluable and without their work the
SAA would not function effectively as a self-regulating organization. I would like to extend a sincere and heart-felt
thank-you to all that have contributed to the SAA over the last year. I would also like to recognize the phenomenal
efforts of our administrative staff, who do a great job keeping the ship afloat and our crew of councillors on task.
And lastly, our organization cannot run without the dedication, hard work, insight, and intellect of our members. If you
are interested in exploring the many opportunities to contribute to the SAA, please feel free to speak with me directly,
reach out to any of our councillors, or contact Whitney Robson for further information.
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Strategic Planning and Priorities 2017-2019
At Council’s Special meeting on June 23rd, 2017, the SAA’s Mission, Strategic Goals and project priorities were
reviewed in order to create a work plan for a one to two-year term and identify work that should be considered for
implementation following this cycle.

Mission
The mission of the Saskatchewan Associations of Architects is to provide regulation, leadership, and guidance in the practice of architecture for the benefit of the public and the Membership.

Strategic Goals
BUSINESS

MEMBERSHIP

ADVOCACY

To administer and enhance the understanding of the regulatory role and duties of the
Association by Council and the membership (including measurable outcomes).

To increase practice support and learning opportunities
for members, interns and students, i.e. skill proficiency
and competency.

To engage and promote literacy
regarding architecture and the
role of architects. To maintain
and enhance relationships with
government, industry, organizations
and other Associations.

Key Result Area
LEGISLATION

To maintain ongoing
government relations in
order to be positioned to
influence changes to The
Architect’s Act, 1996 and its
related regulations.

COUNCIL
INFRASTRUCTURE
To clarify council roles and
responsibilities in order to
achieve long term continuity.
To educate admin, council
and members in order
to have clear business
practices.
To administer the business
of the association in a
manner that maintains
legislative requirements, is
economically sustainable,
and provides services to
members.

MEMBER SERVICES &
OUTREACH

ACCOUNTABILITY

To develop mechanisms
to track and ensure our
regulatory requirements are
met in order to demonstrate
our obligations under the Act.
To provide measurable
outcomes (metrics) in order
to monitor progress.

To make better use of the
website and newsletters
to communicate to
membership.
To develop and implement
improved applications and
renewal processes in order
to result in a higher rate of
successful submissions.
To engage new members,
Interns, and foreign trained
architects in order to ensure
appropriate understanding
of the requirements and
skills to practice Architecture
in Saskatchewan.
To facilitate the transfer
of knowledge regarding
Council’s regulatory role to
younger members in order
to ensure continuity.
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PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
& CONTINUING
EDUCATION
To provide tools to ensure
that members’ proficiency
is current, they understand
SAA Regulations,
their obligations and
responsibilities.
To enhance the continuing
education guide in order
to simplify reporting
requirements and improve
consistency.

PUBLIC
OUTREACH
To champion the role and
value of architects to owners
to ensure that architectural
services are engaged
appropriately.
To communicate with the
client when architect is
required in order to protect
the public.
To develop and to deliver
a “role of architect” tool
kit tailored to educate the
public.
To investigate and correct
the public and professional
knowledge gaps to fulfill our
public relations mandate.

1-2 Year Priority Projects
ITEM COMPLETE

LEGISLATION

ITEM UNDERWAY

COUNCIL
INFRASTRUCTURE

ITEM NOT STARTED

MEMBER SERVICES &
OUTREACH

ACCOUNTABILITY

Executive Director
permanent position and
Staffing (EC2)

Member Database (Ad 1)

School of Architecture and
the Visual Arts: Steering
Committee participation
and Communications to
membership (EC1)

Education Piece for Cities
and Municipalities (C6)

Education Committee
Handbook (E14)

SAA Fee Schedule (P4)

Plan / Scoping and Budget
preparation for Strategic
Plan 2019-2021. (EC 3)

Revisions to Application for
Core document to align with
regulatory requirements (E8)

Member Database (Ad1)

Three-year Projection
Budget (Ad14)

Basic Office Policies
Document (Ad2)

Website classified ads (C2)
Member Database (Ad 1)
Preparations for 2018
Renewals: Possible Changes
(P14)

PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
& CONTINUING
EDUCATION

PUBLIC
OUTREACH

Focus Groups on Con-Ed
Survey results (E9)

Website Update and Review
(C1)

Develop 2018-2020
Con-Ed Program revisions
(E10)

Education Piece for Cities
and Municipalities (C6)

Increase communication
on Con-Ed requirements
to membership (E2)

Communication to members
regarding “Unreasonable
RFP Conditions”: Prepare
draft communication (P15)

Register Clean-up. (Ad3)

Privacy Policy (Ad 9)
Discipline Manual (Ad 7)

Community Awareness/
Promotion of the Profession
(Value of Architecture) (C9)
Dialogue with
representatives of major
client groups: Provincial
Architect, Municipalities,
etc. (P20)

Practice bulletin on The
Architects Act, 1996
enforcement policies (P16)
Increase communication
on Con-Ed requirements to
membership(E2)
Determine need and
process for introductory
sessions on IAP (E17)
Increase support for first
registration (E18)
Look at formal study
sessions and training for
interns, syllabus, and foreign
trained architects (E19)

LEGEND
E = Education Committee

P=Practice Committee

C=Communications Committee

EC=Executive Committee

Ad=Administration

#’s Indicate Committee Action Item

ITEM UNDERWAY

ITEM COMPLETE

ITEM TO BE
RECONSIDERED

NOT STARTED

TOTAL

17

5

--

5

27
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3-5 Year Projects
ITEM COMPLETE

LEGISLATION

Prepare draft council policy:
Bylaw 9.02 Amendment
Implementation & Council
Policy on Architect Title (P1)
Development of application
and draft of council policy:
Temporary License –
Application and Council
Policy (P2)
Council Policy – Naming of
architectural corporations
and partnerships: Research
where SAA previous version
of this document may be
(P5)

ITEM UNDERWAY

COUNCIL
INFRASTRUCTURE

ITEM NOT STARTED

MEMBER SERVICES &
OUTREACH

ACCOUNTABILITY

Confidentiality Agreement
(Ad8)
Executive Committee Terms
of Reference (Ad10)
Council Policy Handbook
Development (Ad13)
Expense Claim Guidelines
(Ad15)

Full Review of SAA Bylaws:
Discussion regarding scope
of project and timeline (long
term) to occur (P9)

Revisit of Reclamation
Bulletins: Review feedback
from legal counsel and
make necessary changes
(P6)

Style Guide (C4)
Education PowerPoint for
Student Presentations (C7)

Council Policy on Sole
Proprietors: Prepare draft
council policy (P7)

Work with communications
committee sub-committees
(i.e. Design Week, OPEN,
RAD, etc) (C10)

Council Policy on Leave:
Prepare draft council policy
(P8)

Welcome Package” for new
Members – support for
Communications (P18)

Full Review of SAA Bylaws:
Discussion regarding scope
of project and timeline (long
term) to occur (P9)

Increase mentors pool for
Syllabus students (E3)

Interpretation of “place of
business” on seal (P10)

Review available information
/ become more familiar
with Syllabus program and
IAP (E4)

Council Policy –
Contravention of Bylaw
12.01.6: Prepare draft
council policy (P11)

Formal review of
nomenclature for Syllabus
(with Practice committee)
(E5)

Council Policy – Retired
Members (P12)

Public presentation on
School of Architecture
Initiative; SOA progress
reports to membership (with
Executive committee) (E6)

Determine and compile data
and metrics on Con-ed (E1)
Risk Management
Inventory/ Register (Ad1)

PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
& CONTINUING
EDUCATION

PUBLIC
OUTREACH

Connect with other
Jurisdictions for Con-Ed
Opportunities (E1)

Bursary Advertising Update
(C5)

Increase mentors pool for
Syllabus students (E3)
Revisions to Application for
Core document to align with
regulatory requirements (E8)
Determine and compile
data and metrics on Con-Ed
(E11)
More clarity on the role of
the Association, Professional
Obligations and goals of
Con-Ed (E12)
Education and Practice
Support – Act, Code of
Practice, Bylaws (E13)
RAIC Transcripts and process
assessment (CALA issue
also) (E15)

Education PowerPoint for
Student Presentations (C7)
Memberships in architectural
organizations (Saskatchewan
Heritage Foundation, etc.)
(C8)
Public presentation on
School of Architecture
Initiative; SOA progress
reports to membership (with
Executive committee) (E6)
Develop contacts within
media and publications (with
Communications) (E7)
Promote the Business/Role
of Architecture, toolkit for role
of Architect, public education
on understanding Architect’s
role in Public Safety (E20)
More liaison with Senate,
Sask Poly representatives
(E21)
More interaction with
Schools of Architecture
across Canada – career
days, touring exhibitions,
conference presentations
(E22) - accreditation

More clarity on the role of
the Association, Professional
Obligations and goals of
Con-Ed (E12)
Education and Practice
Support – Act, Code of
Practice, Bylaws (E13)
Engage younger members
on activities and committees
(E16)
More interaction with
Schools of Architecture
across Canada – career
days, touring exhibitions,
conference presentations
(E22)

LEGEND
E = Education Committee

P=Practice Committee

C=Communications Committee

EC=Executive Committee

Ad=Administration

#’s Indicate Committee Action Item

ITEM UNDERWAY

ITEM COMPLETE

ITEM TO BE
RECONSIDERED

NOT STARTED

TOTAL

4

2

--

35

41

12
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Secretary - Treasurer
Daniel Reeves
Saskatchewan Association of Architects
2016 and 2017 Unaudited Statements of Operations
2016
Unaudited

2017
Unaudited

500,762

514,675

School of Architecture Levy

3,590

126,950

Other Membership

1,300

1,700

42,183

15,125

Investment Income

7,504

12,371

Conference Income

100,949

83,884

36,681

9,640

692,969

764,345

Revenues
Annual Dues and Application Fees

Reinstatements & Other Penalties

Other Income
Expenditures
Advertising & Promotion

778

1,993

Advocacy

30,485

2,845

Conference

65,237

63,741

-

750

Bank Charges

8,641

6,114

CALA Assessments

8,517

21,011

Bad Debts

CALA Interprovincial Meetings

9,817

15,767

Council Expenses

47,041

9,845

Member Expenses

8,486

4,858

Office Expenses

22,663

15,744

Other Expenses

7,073

2,845

Professional Fees

32,322

37,278

Rent

34,680

36,810

374,488

360,014

12,263

30,296

1,987

126,950

839

1,219

665,317

738,080

27,652

26,265

Amortization

(44,608)

(43,014)

Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses

(16,956)

(16,749)

Salaries & Employee Benefits
Scholarships & Awards
School of Architecture Expenses
Utilities
Excess of Revenue over Expenditures
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At December 31, 2017 the association expenditures were over revenues by $16,749. There were a number of
contributing factors that lead to this operating deficit:
• We saw an increase in CALA assessments – there was the addition of a staff person to manage the CALA
organizing and the CHOP update has been begun. All the participating associations bear this cost based on
their respective membership numbers. Members are not billed directly for this, but the SAA has a responsibility
to uphold our portion of the costs.
• Professional fees (legal consultation, accounting support, HR costs) were higher than previous years.
• Salaries and employee benefits will see a reduction in the next budget as identified in the three-year
projections.
• Office, member, and council expenses all down as a result of some necessary austerity measures to bring the
budget closer to being balanced. Further measures are being considered for future years as identified in the
three-year budget projections.
• Advocacy expenditures were down. The “Advocacy” line item included monies for the database project, which
was not spent in 2017. This work is budgeted for in the 2018 year and is addressed in the three-year budget
projections.
On the revenue side:
• Annual dues were higher than anticipated.
• Reinstatements and penalties were reduced, although we still see penalties being applied to members for late
filing of a change request application.
• “Other Income” down – we have reviewed and revised how our budget categories are laid out and categorized,
a number of line items needed to be re-allocated as they were being listed in the wrong category. Items include:
ExAC fees, reimbursed CALA meeting expenses, Prairie Design Awards.
• Bank charges down as a result of changing backs (RBC to Affinity).
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects
2018, 2019, and 2020 Operating Budget Projections
2018 Budget

2019 Budget

2020 Budget

507,725

500,425

487,250

70,550

69,700

-

-

-

-

1,000

1,000

1,000

78,350

78,350

78,350

828

1,902

2,853

9,900

9,900

9,900

Transfer from Reserve (Bursary)

30,000

30,000

20,000

Transfer from Reserve (Database)

44,645

-

-

742,998

691,277

579,353

4,885

5,985

5,085

112,095

27,721

29,247

Amortization

12,000

12,000

12,000

Conference Expense

78,350

78,350

78,350

-

-

-

7,236

7,324

7,376

20,604

22,250

23,556

7,665

7,730

7,800

26,585

40,305

28,235

4,773

3,375

3,375

Office Expenses

16,065

16,310

16,795

Other Expenses

5,400

5,850

5,875

Professional Fees

54,400

62,240

63,440

Rent & Utilities

40,733

41,682

42,630

251,306

260,455

272,350

Bursary

30,352

30,000

20,000

School of Architecture Expenses

70,550

69,700

-

742,998

691,277

596,114

(0)

0

(16,761)

Revenue
Annual Dues & Application Fees
School of Architecture Levy
Reinstatements & Other Penalties
Other Membership Revenue (Seal Rental)
Conference Revenue
Other Income
Investment Income

Expenditures
Annual Sponsorship & Memberships
Special Projects & Website

Bad Debts
Bank & Credit Card Fees
CALA Assessments
CALA Meetings
Council & Committee Expenses
Membership Expenses

Salaries & Employee Expenses
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Notes regarding 2018 Operating Budget and 2019 and 2020 projections:
• The cost of the database (full cost currently unknown) will be funded by transferring funds from the reserves. In
the 2018 Operating Budget the database is estimated at ~$100,000; there is a transfer in the amount of
$44,645 from reserves that will only occur if necessary.
• Database: online system that will create administrative efficiency; there will be a member login section; all
records electronic. 2017/18 staffing levels are in anticipation of the database efficiencies (“Salaries &
Employee Benefits” line down between 2017 and 2018).
• School of architecture levy will be completed in 2018 – discussion to be had around the potential request for
an addition year of contributions.
• SAA bursary funds (being held in reserves) will be depleted by end of 2019.
• Larger amount budgeted for the 2019 strategic planning session for Council allows for a facilitated reevaluation of projects and priorities.
• Fee increase to be considered for 2020 (last increase was in 2017 - annual fees for registered members and
firms only). It is being suggested that for 2020 all fees (application, annual, misc.) be considered for increases.
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2015

2016

2017

$446,995

$557,832

$530,196

$71,082

$141,728

$101,904

Bursary – Internally Restricted Funds

$124,120

$114,120

$84,120

Total Unrestricted Reserves

$251,793

$301,984

$344,172

2016 Budget

2017 Budget

2018 Budget

Total Budgeted Expenses

$740,011

$677,088

$742,998

60% of Budgeted Expenses (target)

$444,007

$406,253

$445,799

58% of target

78% of target

77% of target

SAA Reserves Fund at December 31
General Reserves Value
School of Architecture Levy – Restricted Funds
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Registrar
Daniel Reeves
2017

2016 2015 2014

2013 2012

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Registered Members

422

423

448

433

401

353

317

277

239

215

187

Resident

108

107

111

108

108

105

102

92

87

80

81

Non-Resident

314

316

337

325

293

248

215

185

152

135

106

Associate Members

1

2

1

1

2

1

1

5

5

3

4

Members on Leave of Absence

5

4

1

2

2

2

2

1

2

4

2

Retired Members

14

14

12

8

8

8

8

10

9

8

8

Life Members

11

11

10

8

8

8

8

9

7

8

8

Honorary Members

3

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

4

4

Total

456

457

475

455

424

376

340

306

266

242

213

Student Members (Includes Interns & Syllabus Students)

30

29

31

41

41

41

35

29

31

29

24

Firms

232

235

253

292

293

244

202

150

149

127

107

2017 Membership
Membership numbers were stable through 2017 with the number of registered members as follows: January 1,
2017 – 423 Registered Members, December 31, 2017 – 422 Registered Members. The number of SAA licensed
firms declined slightly from January (235) to December (232) 2017.
Seven SAA Interns completed the Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) this year and became Registered Members:
Lisa Karkut, Megan Krueger, Hengliang Li, Brenda-Dale McLean, Jillian Peltier, Dorian Resener, and Ellen Wardell.

Membership Trends
Over the past ten years, membership has grown by 126%. As illustrated below, there were 187 Registered Architect
Members in 2007 and 422 Registered Architect Members in 2017. Non-resident members make up the majority of
the membership at 74.5% and resident members comprise 25.5% of the total membership.
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Register Update
New SAA Members by Completion of the Internship in Architecture Program
Lisa Karkut

Hengliang Li

Jillian Peltier

Megan Krueger

Brenda-Dale McLean

Dorian Resener

Ellen Wardell

New SAA Members
Mehboob Bangash

Mobolonle George

Sheldon Levitt

Monika Oystryk

Devon Skinner

Richard Bernstein

Keith Hayes

Anna Madeira

Michele Perigny

Calvin Smith

Tyson Bolduc

Barry J. Hobin

Amita Marjara

Farah Rahman

Roger Snowball

Patrick Cotter

Amer Jordan

Richard Mascia

Sean Reid

Susan Taff

Christos Dikeakos

Shiraz Kevorkian

Vasilios Mattheos

Susan Ruptash

Richard Witt

Michael Flynn

Leslie M. Klein

Susan Nelson Kougias H. Edward Shore

Readmitted SAA Members

Reinstated SAA Members

Richard Isaac

Marcy Shelvey

Jamie M. Kozak

Vivian Manasc

Mary Joann Zulueta

Roman Kucharczyk
Helio Rodrigues

SAA Members with a Change in Status – Registered Member to Member on Leave of Absence
Curtis Dyck

Brenda-Dale McLean

Bianca Hilbert

Jocelyn Tanner

20

SAA Members with a Change in Status – Registered Member to Retired Member
Ted Rusick

SAA Members with a Change in Status – Registered Member to Associate Member
Stella Nicolett (reinstated)

New Intern Architects
Olalekan Adegbemro

Megan Florizone

Nardeep Grewal

Piper New

Dustin Braun

Anne Gorsalitz

Landon Lucyk

Stephanie Linn Rideout

New Licences to Practice
A.D. Jordan Architect Ltd.

Mehboob Bangash Architects

Amphora Architecture Inc.

Quadrangle Architects Limited

Archintegris Architect

Susan Kougias Architecture

Chris Dikeakos Architects Inc.

SUVA Architecture Inc.

Hatch Architectd Ltd./Hatch Architectes Ltée

Taff Architecture Ltd.

Hobin Architecture Incorporated

ZGF Architects Inc.

M O George, Architect

Readmitted Licence to Practice

Reinstated Licence to Practice

Manasc Isaac Architects Ltd.

AECOM Canada Architects Ltd.

Samson Design Inc.

Douglas Cardinal Architect

Zulueta Architecture Ltd.
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Executive Director
Whitney Robson
2017 was a year of change for the Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA). Change is not always easy and
there have, indeed, been challenging transitions to make. Most noticeably, there have been changes in staffing and
job descriptions. I have to thank the individuals that have served the SAA as staff over the past year: Annette Horvath,
for her dedication to her work, Rhonda Schindel, for her years of service, and Cindy Johnston for her energy and
efforts.
We continue to work towards finding the “right-sized staff” for our association as well as the right skillsets. In the
coming weeks the SAA will be bringing a bookkeeper on to assist us in maintaining our financial records – the most
recent change in an effort to complete our current complement of staff.
This past year we turned our attention to our processes, both internal and outward (member) facing, in an effort to
create greater clarity and find efficiencies in our administrative work – this effort is ongoing. Regarding internal
processes – much work has been done on refining our systems, from re-working our forms and templates to changing
our procedures surrounding applications. SAA staff have worked to continually improve the annual member and
licence renewal over the last few years. SAA staff used the 2017 renewal as an opportunity to update documents in
our files and prepare for the implementation of an electronic membership database.
2017 was a significant and meaningful year for me, in my time with the SAA, as it brought the transition from Practice
and Policy Coordinator to Executive Director. This is a role that I have been truly honoured to take on and that I strive
to perform with the utmost diligence and care. Throughout my years with the association, I have always felt greatly
privileged to work for the SAA, as the regulator for the profession of architecture, and architects, as self-regulating
professionals.
Self-regulation is both a privilege and a duty that you have in this profession. It honours the special skills, knowledge,
and experience that a profession possess; it also recognizes the maturity of a profession. To be a self-regulating
profession means that the government has delegated its regulatory functions to those who have the specialized
knowledge necessary to do the job.
Self-regulation for the profession of architecture means two things:
1. Architects are involved in determining the rules that govern the profession (e.g. being involved as Council
members); and
2. Architects are accountable for their own behaviour (e.g. they are accountable to self-regulate), with the SAA
providing assistance and oversight.
The SAA regulates and ensures the ongoing improvement of the practice of architecture, to promote and serve the
public interest. The overlying principle is the primacy of the public interest over the interests of the membership. This
means that the SAA works to ensure that architects are practicing proficiently and ethnically to maintain the standards
of practice of the profession and ensure accountability for their conduct and practice.
It is The Architects Act, 1996 that gives the SAA its mandate to regulate the practice of architecture and gives the
public a strong voice in the regulation of architects. The Act provides the SAA with the ability to develop bylaws, which
assist in the governance of the association.

22

The work of the SAA is directed by a Council (similar to a board of directors), whose job it is to represent the interests
of the public. The Council is made up of architects who have been elected by their peers and members of the public
who have been appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. The Council plays a vital role in self-regulating
professions. I would like to take this opportunity to recognize and celebrate the contributions of your 2017-2018
Council – Jeanna South, James Youck, Roger Mitchell, Ray Gosselin, Daniel Reeves, Laurie Njaa, Chris Kailing, and
Frank Bojkovsky. The SAA had two new public appointees join us in 2017 – Dena McMartin (Professor of
Environmental Engineering, Director of Research Services, and Assistant Vice-President Research at the University of
Saskatchewan) and Laird Ritchie (Ledcor Construction Ltd.) – thank you to them as well. These ten people have
dedicated their time and energy over the past year to attend meetings, carry out council tasks, work on committees,
lead volunteers, and work with staff. I owe a huge debt to Jeanna and Dan – who have shown tremendous leadership
for our association over the past year. Their time and dedication has not gone unnoticed and is deeply appreciated.
Each year eight of your peers participate in the process of self-regulation directly by volunteering for these roles. For
those of you who are eligible but have not yet served on Council, I urge you to find out more about the positions that
will be available at this year’s AGM and to take an active role in the body that determines the rules that govern the
profession and makes decisions that affect all architects practicing in Saskatchewan.
In addition to these individuals there are many other members who have dedicated their time to the committees and
subcommittees of Council. These individuals have been working hard, on behalf of members, to improve the Con Ed
program, our website, and compliance processes – they are all working to better the profession in Saskatchewan. A
sincere thank you goes out to these individuals as well.
On the administrative front, we accomplished a number of projects this year in addition to business as usual and the
fine-tuning of our internal systems. These include:
• Development of the SAA Human Resource Policies and Procedures Employee Handbook
• Implementation of SAA Council and staff expense claim guidelines
• Development of a confidentiality agreement for SAA Council and staff
• Completion of Executive Committee terms of reference
• Three-year projection budget – this is something we have heard that members have wanted to see for a number
of years. SAA Secretary-Treasurer, Daniel Reeves, and I will be providing more information on this item during the
2018 SAA Member Forum. You can find more information in the Secretary-Treasurer section of the annual report
• Member database – this is one of our major projects for 2017-2019. Initial work began in 2017, will continue
though 2018, with implementation wrapping up in approximately early 2019. The database will work not only
to assist in organizing the SAA’s data internally but will be of benefit to members in that it will allow for online
payment, filing of changes and updating information electronically, and eventually the logging of Con Ed, as well
as CERB, hours via the SAA website. The application process (both for membership and licensure) will undergo a
certain amount of change during the implementation of the SAA database
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Projects that work will continue on or that will be undertaken in the coming year include:
• Continued work on the SAA database
• Completing work on the SAA discipline manuals. This project is being carried out in conjunction with SAA legal
counsel and will result in a guidebook for the group of individuals who will form the discipline committee
(assemble when required)
• Development of an SAA privacy policy (regarding SAA files, electronic data, etc.)
• General clean up and organizing of SAA Register
• Development of a risk management inventory/register for the SAA
Over the past year, my approach to the association’s work and our collaboration with members has been to educate
members regarding the Act and Bylaws, in order to assist them in successfully working within and according to the
legislation and regulation. The best service we can provide to you is being transparent about what we require and
why we require it (always, of course, basing our work off of the Act and Bylaws). A healthy dialogue with members
and prospective members is important to how we do our job – my door is always open and I would be happy to sit
down with any member who has questions or thoughts about the association’s work. I have an immense
appreciation for the work that you do and your contribution to the built environment; I value my involvement in the
field and the part I am able to play in the work you do. Thank you for the privilege of working with the SAA – I look
forward to the new year ahead.
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects
2017/2018 Committee Structure
COUNCIL:

................................................................................................................

Term Expires

President ........................................................................................................... Jeanna South, Saskatoon
1st Vice President ........................................................................................... James Youck, Regina
2nd Vice President ......................................................................................... Roger Mitchell, Regina
Secretary-Treasurer and Registrar ............................................................... Daniel Reeves, Saskatoon
Past-President .................................................................................................. Ray Gosselin, Regina
Councillor .......................................................................................................... Laurie Njaa, Saskatoon
Councillor .......................................................................................................... Frank Bojkovsky, Regina
Councillor ........................................................................................................... Chris Kailing, Regina
Public Appointee ............................................................................................. Dena McMartin, Saskatoon
Public Appointee ............................................................................................. Laird Ritchie, Saskatoon

2019
2020
2021
2018
2018
2019
2020
2020
2020
2020

Reports of the Executive, Practice, Education, and Communications Committees
Executive Committee .................................................................................... Jeanna South, Daniel Reeves, Ray Gosselin

Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities .................................. David W. Edwards
School of Architecture and Visual Arts .............................................. Bob Burnyeat, David W. Edwards, Jeanna South
Practice Committee ....................................................................................... James Youck, Roger Mitchell

Saskatchewan Building & Accessibility Standards Appeals ......... No Current SAA Representative
Saskatchewan Bid Depository Incorporated .................................... Ted Engel, Alton Tangedal
Saskatchewan Construction Association Advisory Council........... James Youck, Daniel Reeves
Saskatchewan Construction Panel ...................................................... James Youck
Prompt Payment Working Group ......................................................... Daniel Reeves
Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee – Regina.......................... Currently Inactive
Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee – Saskatoon................... Don Greer
Honourary Corporate Archivist ............................................................. Frank Korvemaker
Education Committee .................................................................................... Chris Kailing, Laurie Njaa

Internship in Architecture Program ..................................................... James McEwen
RAIC Syllabus Program ........................................................................... LeeAnn Croft, Lyle Wiebe
Senate – University of Regina .............................................................. Bernie Flaman
Senate – University of Saskatchewan ................................................ Grant McKercher
Saskatchewan Polytechnic – Architectural Technologies ............. Justin Wotherspoon
Communications Committee .............................................................. Frank Bojkovsky
Design Council of Saskatchewan ......................................................... Bertrand Bartake, Craig Cowan
Prairie Design Awards............................................................................. Jeff Howlett
RAIC Regional Director............................................................................ Jason Robbins
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Executive Committees
CANADIAN ARCHITECTURAL LICENSING AUTHORITIES
David W. Edwards
The Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities (CALA) represents nationally the eleven architectural regulators in
Canada and operates by consensus, dealing with items on behalf of all members of the profession. Your President,
1st Vice President, and Executive Director have participated in several meetings during the year to deal with matters
that affect the whole of the profession. There are a number of committees and task forces that work at the direction
of the collective. They have dealt with a number of issues over the past year and this report contains a few of them.
The collective has agreed to fund an administrative position to help with the organizing of CALA events. Jaidin Wale
has been hired and will work in the AIBC offices.

International Relations Committee (IRC)
The Bi-Lateral Mutual Recognition Agreement (MRA) between Canada and the United States has been in place for
over two years and now has forty-four states signed onto the agreement, with a few others pending. Some states
have legislation that will not allow them to sign the MRA at this time; the National Council of Architectural Registration
Boards (NCARB) is working with these states to find “work arounds” to the legislation. The monitoring committee for
this MRA had one meeting in 2017. It was held in conjunction with a meeting regarding the Tri-National MRA between
Mexico, the United States, and Canada. The Tri-National agreement was signed three years ago and has had two
Mexican applicants and one from the USA. Additionally, there appears to be several Mexican architects about to apply.
The IRC completed its work with Australia and New Zealand and an MRA was signed in late 2016. To date, one
architect has applied and been granted a licence in British Columbia.
Currently, the committee is working with the Architects Council of Europe (ACE) to develop a similar MRA and have
signed a preliminary intent of an agreement. The committees is working with the architectural regulators to sign the
agreement by the end of this year and are developing a ten hour course for architects from Europe to undertake prior
to licensure in Canada.

Canadian Exam Committee (CExAC)
The exam has completed eight sittings since it started, with an average pass rate in the mid 70%. All sittings have
been in November of each year. They are currently developing new questions and are working towards the exam
being offered more than once a year. The exam questions need constant updating to be in-step with current codes
and standards of practice.

Canadian Handbook of Practice (CHOP)
The RAIC and CALA have agreed to update the Canadian Handbook of Practice (CHOP) and have established an
editorial board to undertake the work over the next eighteen months.
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Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB) Standing Committee
The work of this committee is ongoing; it works with both the Canadian Schools of Architecture (CCUSA) and the
board of the Canadian Architectural Certification Board (CACB). Revisions to the conditions and procedures for
accreditation have been completed and came into effect in the fall of 2017. All school visits in 2018 will use the
revised conditions and procedures.
Currently, the committee is working with CCUSA to examine and revise the integration of the internship program and
education. The profession established a minimum competency level to be registered as an architect and the
committee is working to integrate all aspects of this process.
The Broadly Experienced Foreign Architects (BEFA) Program has been operational for five years with approximately
236 total applicants, 46 of which have become licensed in various jurisdictions across Canada. At the start of the
program, a review of BEFA was committed to being undertaken; a review of the program will begin later this year. The
Government of Canada, through Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC), have asked the CACB Standing
Committee to work with them on an express entry program and to look at the possibility of the BEFA Program being
integrated into their program.

Future of Architecture
A special committee has been developed under the CACB Standing Committee to establish a process to engage the
profession and all stakeholders in developing a national architectural policy. A sub-group of this committee is
developing a position paper for circulation. More details will be available later this summer.
Thanks should be given to Jeanna South, James Youck, and Whitney Robson who represented Saskatchewan at these
meetings and read through a pile of reports. You will hear more from them in their reports and if there are questions I
would be happy to try and answer them.

SCHOOL OF ARCHITECTURE AND VISUAL ARTS
Bob Burnyeat, David W. Edwards, Jeanna South
Work continues on the School of Architecture & Visual Arts (SAVA) initiative and although previous goals of a program
rollout by fall of 2018 have not been achieved, strong support for the program at the University of Saskatchewan (U
of S) continues, with better progress expected in 2018. The SAA remains a part of the SAVA Oversight Committee.
Curriculum discussions, as reported previously, have not substantially changed. The focus this past year has been
more solidly placed on fine tuning budgets, discussions regarding funding and fundraising, garnering support at all
levels of the U of S and continuing discussions regarding a suitable home for SAVA.
The Project Director, Colin Ripley, has prepared various budget scenarios associated with a fall 2019 start which are
being reviewed and discussed by SAVA and the U of S. As part of the budget and fundraising process, it was
determined that a $30m building budget would be difficult to undertake successfully and therefore other options to
reduce the need for funds are being considered. To date, the expenses of the SAVA initiative remain within the
commitment that the SAA and U of S have made.
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The University of Saskatchewan has indicated strong support at all levels of governance. The new Provost and VP
Academics, Tony Vannelli, along with VP Finance and Resources, Greg Fowler, recently met with Colin Tennent, who is
the U of S project lead for the SAVA Oversight Committee. This meeting generated a schedule that anticipates
approvals by U of S Council by September 2018 and U of S Board and Senate by October 2018, with student intake
starting in fall 2019.
The SAA representatives on SAVA, Jeanna South, David W. Edwards, and Bob Burnyeat remain committed to working
with the U of S Oversight Committee headed by SAA member, Colin Tennent, and Project Director, Colin Ripley, to
advance the school and represent the interests of the SAA and its members.
Despite delays, new developments, and a media report to the contrary, this continues to be a successful and
effective process to realize the vision of a school of architecture in Saskatchewan. The SAA has been well represented
and involved at every step and will continue to be involved in greater ways as the initiative continues. There
continues to be a tremendous amount of enthusiasm at the U of S as well as in the community for this initiative. We
acknowledge the efforts of SAA member, Colin Tennent, and Project Director, Colin Ripley, for their dedicated and
continued involvement and support for this initiative. We should also thank Andrew Wallace and Paul Blazer, SAA
members who have been pivotal supporters of this initiative.
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Practice
PRACTICE COMMITTEE
James Youck and Roger Mitchell
Overview:
The work of the Practice Committee is rooted in SAA legislation (The Architects Act, 1996) and regulations (the SAA
Bylaws). The committee’s primary objective is to provide advice and recommendations to council on all matters
related to the practice of architecture. The efforts of the 2017 committee included the following:
• Support to members on PST revisions implemented in spring of 2017. Special thanks to SAA member Keith
Henry for his efforts on the PST Ad-Hoc Committee that responded to and reviewed the PST changes.
• Review of unlicensed practice (entails: response to complainant, investigation, issuance of letters/instruction,
follow up, advice from legal counsel, and/or engagement of the Professional Conduct Committee.
• Review of the unauthorized use of the title, “architect”.
• Formulate and issue responses to requests for consultation or collaboration from the public sector and allied
professionals.
• Review of municipal project reports (Regina and Saskatoon).
• Review of Saskatchewan-based RFP queries from members to clarify if RFP requirements are in accordance with
The Architects Act, 1996 and issuance of letters to procurement personnel with suggested revisions.
• Collaboration with APEGS and ACEC|SK on common topics and issues.
• Ongoing collaboration with the Provincial Architect on procurement.
• Review of possible SAA Bylaw amendments.
• Issuance of public information.

Additional Items of Note:
• There is considerable committee and administration support time dedicated to the issue of unlicensed practices
or the improper use of title. Some of the issues stem from an apparent lack of understanding of the use of the
title from Saskatchewan Polytechnic students. The Practice Committee was pleased to have the cooperation of
Saskatchewan Polytechnic and volunteer members in the delivery of an information luncheon to senior class
students in the Architectural Technologies Program. Gratitude to Dave Edwards and Louis Aussant for attending
on behalf of the SAA.
• The SAA Fee Committee is a sub-committee of the Practice Committee. A committee of members lead by Roger
Mitchell have been working on redefining or refining the SAA Fee Schedule and potentially finding alignment with
ACEC|SK. This is a major undertaking and a separate summary is provided in this report.

2018 Priorities:
Your Practice Committee is currently focusing on:
• Revision of the SAA fee/scope document.
• Interface with the Provincial Architect in the development of a firm registry for the Ministry of Central Services
that recognizes the abilities of SAA members, regardless of the size of their respective firms, and with a focus on
quality based selection.
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• Ongoing discussion with the provincial and municipal governments related to standardized contracts and
educating all levels of government on the practice of architecture.
• Continued work on the SAA Bylaws in an effort to further clarify requirements for registered members and
licensed corporations and firms as well as an effort to create a level registration “playing field” for both business
structures within the regulatory framework.
• Issuance of practice bulletins and other reference material to support member success in compliance with the
requirements of practice.
The 2017 Practice Committee included: Ray Gosselin, Jeanna South, James Youck, and Roger Mitchell. We would like
to thank Whitney for her ongoing support and the cooperation and support of the members in our efforts to support
SAA Council. We would also like to thank members not specifically identified in this report for their volunteerism in
the support of the committee and the profession.

Fee Committee Update:
SAA Council and Practice Committee have struck a sub-committee to review the existing fee schedule and recommend
changes in an effort to update and modernize the schedule. The schedule was last updated in 2008. The committee,
chaired by Roger Mitchell, includes: Bob Burnyeat, Allan Duddridge, David W. Edwards, Bron Nurkowski, Jim Siemens,
and Troy Smith. The focus of the committee is to review the percentage fees as well as the breakdown of that fee by
phase of work, and where the advent of new technologies such as BIM have affected the delivery of projects.
The committee is also consulting with the Ministry of Central Services and ACEC|SK in a collaborative effort to align
fees where appropriate and applicable. To date, the committee has reviewed the fee schedules of other jurisdictions
and the RAIC; information sharing meetings with ACEC|SK and the Ministry of Central Services have also occurred. The
work was initiated in August of 2017 with follow up meetings in December 2017. March 2018 will see follow up
meetings with the intention of completing the work and providing recommendations to Council. We are thankful for
the participation of the members in this important effort.

SASKATCHEWAN BUILDING AND ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS APPEAL BOARD
Submitted by William Hawkins, Executive Director, Buildings Standards and Licensing Branch,
Ministry of Government Relations
The Saskatchewan Building and Accessibility Standards Appeal Board (the Board) is constituted by provision of The
Uniform Building and Accessibility Standards Act (the UBAS Act) for purposes as follows:
(a) Hear and determine appeals made pursuant to Section 12 (exemption from accessibility standards) or Section
18 (appeals of building officials orders);
(b) Advise the Minister on matters concerning the administration of this Act and the regulations; and
(c) Perform any other duties that the minister may direct.
While the UBAS Act details that there can be up to eight members total, no particular seat on the Board is attributed
to one organization or another. The SAA currently has the opportunity to have a representative on this board. If you
are interested please contact SAA Executive Director, Whitney Robson.
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SASKATCHEWAN BID DEPOSITORY INCORPORATED
Ted Engel and Alton Tangedal
The Saskatchewan Bid Depository Incorporated (SBDI)’s Board of Directors is made up of a group of volunteers from
the Regina, Saskatoon, and Prince Albert Construction Associations and also includes two members of the
Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA).
The SBDI met regularly throughout 2017 and concluded the year with their AGM on February 8th, 2018.
The SBDI’s mission statement is as follows:
To promote the use of the SBDI Bid Depository System. The system is a bid collection process, which seeks to provide
fair representation to subcontractors, general contractors and owners.
The SBDI came into existence in 1966 and has been an active part of the construction industry during its lifetime.
However, over the last several years the Bid Depository System has experienced a steady decline in usage which has
led the organization to wonder where its future will be. The board continues to search for a way to sustain and
revitalize the use of the SBDI in the province’s construction industry.
A decade ago, forty projects per year were bid using this system. In 2017, a total of five projects were bid using the
Bid Depository System; in 2016, only one project was bid this way. Analysis of the reasons for the decline reveals
several causes including general contractor preference not to use the system and young professionals in the industry
that are truly unfamiliar with the function of the SBDI and its benefit to the bidding process. In the coming year the
SBDI will work towards further educating our industry and others on the benefits and advantages of the Bid
Depository System to the bidding process.
The SBDI encourages the SAA’s membership to explore the SBDI further and take advantage of opportunities to
educate themselves and others in the use of this system to support the bidding process and to consider utilizing the
system in future projects. Additionally, the SBDI has recommended that although architects, as designers, are often
approached with regard to trade definition, they should direct anyone asking to contact the SBDI or their respective
trade associations directly. The SBDI specifically requires the respective trade to declare they understand their trade
scope without exception.
As the SBDI continues to struggle for acceptance in the industry, those involved in the board remain committed to ensuring
that the system remains available for their members and hopes for improvements and more acceptance in the future.
The SBDI regularly updates its website, which provides information and rules associated with its use; its reference is
encouraged. The website can be found at: www.sbdi.ca.

SASKATCHEWAN CONSTRUCTION ASSOCIATION ADVISORY COUNCIL
James Youck and Daniel Reeves
The Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA) is represented on the Saskatchewan Construction Association
(SCA) Advisory Council by James Youck and Daniel Reeves, and supported by the SAA Executive Director. The SCA
Advisory Council meets on a quarterly basis via videoconference between Regina and Saskatoon, with additional
attendees calling in. The SAA’s role on the advisory council is to provide commentary and advice to the SCA where our
professional insight is of benefit.
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There were a number of initiatives to make note of in 2017:
• The Advisory Panel reviewed The Apprenticeship and Trade Certification Act, 1999 and the SCA has been
assessing the impact on their member trades. Changes to the Act are underway. This will not have an impact on
the work of SAA members other than the opportunity for trades to more carefully manage the transition of
workers into skilled trades, thereby improving the quality of work produced by those trades.
• The SCA advocated for changes to the Workers’ Compensation Board (WCB) governance model. They would like
to see a “best practice” volunteer board of 7 to 11 persons, with equal representation from labour and
employers, with a neutral chair. Consultation with government and the WCB are ongoing.
• The SCA recognizes issues with construction industry productivity and has begun to look at prioritizing how they
are responding to this international problem.
• The effect of taxation on SCA members was of particular interest and concern in 2017 with the implementation
of a new PST structure and the proposed change to federal tax law relating to incorporated business. With the
latter, the SCA, as a member of the Canadian Construction Association (CCA), joined a coalition to advocate
against the tax changes.
The SCA Advisory Council also reviews and disseminates the efforts of Priority Saskatchewan and Prompt Payment to
the SCA membership. Commentary on these two initiatives is included further below.

SASKATCHEWAN CONSTRUCTION PANEL
James Youck
The Saskatchewan Construction Panel (SCP) provides an opportunity for industry, crown corporations, and
government representatives to meet and share information on the state of the construction industry and
procurement on a regular basis, with meetings held quarterly. The panel co-chair, Mark Cooper, completed his term in
2017 and Beverly McLeod, the Executive Director for the Association of Consulting Engineers of Saskatchewan
(ACEC|SK), was named in Mark’s place. Mark brought a balanced view to this role, and we are fortunate to have
Beverly in place to represent the needs of the industry with a voice from a consulting perspective. The government
appoints the second co-chair, who has been Warren Michelson, Sask Party MLA. We have not been informed of any
changes in the position with the recent shuffle in government.
The work of the SCP had been focused on Priority Saskatchewan. This initiative has moved into a second phase of work
with the development of a vendor performance rating system. This post-project involves a review of the vendor’s
performance on a project, ranging from consultants to contractors. The SCA, ACEC|SK, and the SAA all expressed
concern with the format of the process. The SCA felt that their concerns in regards to consistency of rating systems
across the various crown corporations were not addressed by Priority Saskatchewan. Both the SAA and ACEC|SK
expressed concern over the transparency of the rating process and how vendors would be able to appeal the rating if
there was a disagreement. Priority Saskatchewan indicated that minor changes would be made. The SAA, ACEC|SK, and
SCA have not endorsed these alterations. No other Priority Saskatchewan information has been shared with the SCP.
The SCP recognized that its longstanding role has been to advise government and crown corporations on the capacity
of the construction industry and to level the procurement of projects such that the peaks and valleys experienced in
the construction industry could be somewhat leveled. This improves the capacity of industry to provide service, as well
as representing value for money for government on infrastructure works by avoiding “boom pricing”. It is widely
recognized that there is great public policy benefit to investing public money strategically to allow the province to grow.
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It was determined by the SCP that a working group consisting of the Ministry of Central Services, SaskBuilds, the
Ministry of the Economy, the Construction Labour Relations Association, SCA, SCP, SAA, and ACEC|SK be assigned to
develop a strategy for leveling infrastructure project expenditures. The working group has had two meetings and is
currently gathering data on asset management reporting within government. The private sector members’ role will be
to assist in the collection of data around commercial investment while respecting the proprietary nature of the
information. A detailed work plan for the working group is in development and will include a consultation and
engagement process with stakeholders.

PROMPT PAYMENT SASKATCHEWAN
Daniel Reeves
The SAA has been participating with the Saskatchewan Construction Association in the discussion of the potential for
legislative changes addressing prompt payment in Saskatchewan since 2016. The work is being undertaken by the
advocacy entity Prompt Payment Saskatchewan, and ultimately the work aims to alter the rules on holdback and
builders’ liens. Prompt Payment Saskatchewan is working towards a consensus strategy to establish minimum
standards of acceptable business practice in the province of Saskatchewan.
The basic tenets of Prompt Payment Saskatchewan include:
• A payment cycle
• The right to suspend work
• A dispute mechanism
• Interest on overdue payments
• Transparency and disclosure
With a new provincial government in place, the commitment from the political and administrative levels of
government remain clearly in favor of introducing legislation this spring. Prompt Payment Saskatchewan has
established principles that align with Ontario Bill 142. Ontario attempted two separate bills to address prompt
payment prior to the passing of Bill 142 in December 2017. Bill 142 is an amendment to the Ontario’s Construction
Lien Act, so the language will require some review to ensure it aligns with the Saskatchewan Act. Prompt payment
continues to be discussed at a federal level relative to federal government procurement. The federal government has
scrapped the Senate Bill S-224 and is undertaking a federal consultation to move swiftly in creating a House of
Commons drafted prompt payment bill.
There appears to be a lack of consistency in how trade contractors are entering into their contractual arrangements;
there also appears to be concern over the timeline of lien legislation and general transparency of the payment
process. The anticipation is that the alteration of the legislation will provide a more level playing field for the sub
trades in the province. Ultimately, SAA members will be affected as architects play a significant role in the process of
progressing payment claims. These modifications will alter the timelines we currently adhere to. It is not clear at this
time how the prompt payment rules will coexist with the language of standard contracts. If prompt payment alters the
legislation, then the intent is to not be able to write out the regulations to protect trade contractors.
Currently, the apparent legislative effects of prompt payment may be:
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Payment Cycle
• Starts with a “proper invoice” from the general contractor to an owner.
“Proper invoice” will be a defined term and will have associated prescriptive requirements. Proper invoices will
be produced monthly unless otherwise stipulated.
• Upon receipt of a proper invoice an owner has 14 days to issue notice of non-payment; this does not affect the
requirement to pay the remaining undisputed portions of the proper invoice. General contractors have 7 days to
inform the trade contractors of non-payment.
• Owner has 28 days to make payment on all undisputed balances.
• General contractor has 7 days from receipt of payment to pay all trade contractors.
• Prompt payment will not require any contractor to pay for work when they have not been paid.

Overdue Payments
• Interest potentially accrues from the moment the proper invoice is due but not paid or properly disputed.

Dispute Mechanism
• Clear dispute mechanism.
• Costs of adjudication borne equally by both parties, unless ruled otherwise.
• Minister to appoint a pool of adjudicators.
• Adjudication is to commence before contract is completed.
• Adjudicators will be in place no later than 7 days after the authority receives notice of referral.
• All documentation must be presented to the adjudicator within 5 days and the adjudicator has 30 days upon
receipt of the documentation to make a ruling. Adjudicator rulings are binding.
• Once a ruling is in place payment must be submitted within 10 days.

Suspension of Work
• If an adjudicated amount is not paid within 10 days, a contractor has the right to suspend work. Contractors are
entitled to reasonable costs incurred in the resumption of work.
At this stage there are still concerns with: the suspension of work clauses not being strong enough, there is no clear
process for how to address an owner failing to pay without notice, and there does not appear to be any significant
points addressing transparency or disclosure of payments.
Prompt Payment Saskatchewan is working on these points currently. In March 2018, there was a consultation with
Bruce Reynolds and Sharon Vogel of Singleton Urquhart Reynolds Vogel LLP who are examining payment and dispute
resolution practices on federal projects in Canada and will be preparing a package of recommendations to be considered
by the government to inform the development of an effective legislative solution for federal construction contracts.
The issues that will be under consideration potentially affect the entire construction industry across Canada, including
subcontractors, suppliers, contractors, architects, engineers, federal governmental entities, private owners, lenders,
equity participants in the P3 market, insurers, sureties, construction lawyers, and, of course, industry associations.
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MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE – REGINA
Currently Inactive
The Regina Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC) is not currently active. The SAA will advise members of
further developments regarding this committee in future annual reports.
The SAA wishes to extend sincere thanks to Ray Plosker, who has represented the association on the committee from
2012 through 2016 – thank you, Ray.

MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE – SASKATOON
Don Greer
The Saskatoon Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC) consists of seventeen members on which retired
architect, Don Greer, represents the SAA. The committee met nine times during 2017, at which Mr. Greer was in
attendance at eight of the meetings. The full annual report and the complete meeting minutes and agendas of MHAC
are available on the City of Saskatoon website.
Some of the noteworthy activities that occurred in 2017 are described below:
• Presentation on the Children’s Discovery Museum by Lyle Wiebe, architect for the project, and Dave Hunchak,
with the Children’s Discovery Museum. This presentation focused on the proposed changes to the Mendel
Building, which include: the installation of a new elevator, windows installed on the east side of the building and
the raising of a floor area. It was noted that all heritage aspects of the building would be maintained.
• Presentation on the Proposed Heritage Resource Materials Strategy. A recommendation was made to the
Standing Policy Committee on Planning, Development and Community Services to approve the proposed
Heritage Resource Material Strategy.
• Presentation on the Truth and Reconciliation – Call to Action. This resulted in the decision that all future MHAC
meetings include an acknowledgement and welcome to Treaty 6 Territory and home of the Métis Nation.
• Presentation by Jeff O’Brien, City Archivist on the types of archives the City of Saskatoon stores.
• Funding under the Heritage Conservationist Program. The following heritage properties received funding: the
Man House, McLean Block, Arrand Block, Tupper House, CPR Station, Bottomley House.
• Third Avenue United Church designation went to City Council in January 2017 and received designation on
August 28, 2017.
• Municipal Heritage Designation approved for the following properties:
- Thayer House located at 806 8th Avenue North
- Mackenzie House located at 802 8th Avenue North
• Doors Open event had good turn out with attendance numbers close to those in 2015. Popular sites were the City of
Saskatoon Fire Hall No 1, Baitur Rabmat Mosque, and the Civic Operations Centre.
• Designation of the NE Swale not recommend for designation due to legal land survey and boundary establishment.
• The Heritage Awards Committee chaired by Don Greer, reviewed and edited the Heritage Awards Criteria. There were eight
projects and three individuals nominated for the 2018 awards. Awards will be announced and presented early in 2018.
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HONOURARY CORPORATE ARCHIVIST
Frank Korvemaker
Records Indexing and Scanning
Work relating to the SAA records donated to the Provincial Archives of Saskatchewan in 2017 continued to
concentrate on three primary activities:
• Indexing the names of members who are mentioned in various files (“Box Lists”)
• Scanning selected documents (especially letterhead and business cards)
• Responding to public requests for information relating to Saskatchewan architects
Since the Corporate Archivist initiative started in 2013, the following work has been completed:
2013 - 2016

2017

28

18

46

1861

196

2057

Box lists & scanning

158 ½

35

193 ½

SAA admin

39 ½

12

51 ½

Public enquiries

178 ½

43

221 ½

TOTAL HOURS

376 ½

90

466 ½

Public enquiries handled
Selected documents scanned

Cumulative Totals

VOLUNTEER HOURS

Research Relating to Saskatchewan Architects in Response to Various Enquiries
Below is a list of the architects for whom information was requested, followed by the nature of the enquiry (e.g.
building name, biographical information, etc.):
• Max Dunning (SAA # 148) – Robert Simpson Company Warehouse, Regina
• H.K. Black (SAA # 148) – Bank of Montreal, Regina
• Taylor & Gordon (Non-SAA Members) – Bank of Montreal, Regina
• Moody & Moore (Non-SAA Members) – Bank of Montreal, Regina
• Charles Coxall (SAA # 121) – MacBeth and Thomson Residences, Regina
• E.J. Gilbert (SAA # 119) – Gordon Residence, Regina
• Joy Ann Sundeen (SAA # 153) – career information
• Ada Lou Barber-Wilson (SAA # 155) – career information
• Walter Ganes (SAA # 231) – projects information
• F.J. Rastrick (Non-AA Member) – Prince Albert Town Hall / Opera House
• Arthur Allen (SAA # 210) – copies of reports prepared by Allen
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• J.L. Smart (SAA # 11) – Government House display
• M.W. Sharon (SAA # 8) – Government House display
• Dan Stock (SAA # 143) – biographical information
• W. Chesterton (Non-SAA Member) – St. John the Baptist Anglican Church, Sintaluta
• Gary Marvin (SAA # 293) – biographical information
• F. Chapman Clemesha – biographical information
• David Webster – (SAA # 1) – biographical information
• G.W. Bugenhagen (SAA # 14) – biographical information
• F.L. Turnbull (SAA # 16) – biographical information
In addition, there was one enquiry for the name of the architect who designed the Estevan Civic Centre, erected in
1957. Records identified the contractor (Graham) but not the architect.

SAA Member Records Donated to Various Saskatchewan Archives
During 2017, the University of Regina Archives acquired the following architectural records:
• Accession Number: 2017-43 University of Regina Faculty Club
Description: (9) Faculty Club Renovation Plans
Drawings prepared by U of R Facilities Management staff: Melodie R. Naka and Stacey A.M. Hildebrandt, or by
architectural staff with Stantec and KGS EMC, who were consulting firms.
1. University of Regina Renovations College West 215, May 21, 2010
(5 sheets: A1; A2; A3; M1; E1) – drawn by MRN, BPQ, TRA and CI...
2. University Club Renovation, Room 215, College West Building, August 11,2004
(2 sheets: A1; A2) – drawn by SAMH and MRN
3. University Club Renovation, Room 215, College West Building, June 25, 2004
(2 sheets: A1. A2) – drawn by SAMH
During 2017, the City of Regina Archives acquired the following architectural records:
• Accession Number: 4800-008
Description: “Insurance Plans of the City of Regina, Saskatchewan, Comprising Volumes 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5”, 1957.
Western Canada Fire Underwriters Association, Winnipeg, Manitoba.
These records, while generally not deemed to be “architectural” in nature, complement architectural records for
any building where site and other construction information is not available. These Plans document where the
building has been situated on the property; generally the number of stories and the primary construction
material; and sometimes the building’s dimensions. They may also help verify that a certain building, for which
architectural drawings exist, has actually been constructed.

Donation of Records to the SAA Corporate Archivist for Later Transfer to the Provincial Archives
• Edifice and Us: Episode 13: Industrial Chic by Wiens, Directed by Steve Wolfson, 2007; donated by Margaret
Hryniuk. This is a half hour DVD relating to the work of Clifford Wiens and includes: University of Regina Heating
and Cooling Plant; CBC Broadcast Centre (Regina); a private residence design; the Silton Chapel.
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Member Business Card Collection
Business cards help researchers determine who worked for a specific firm and where the firm operated. Members
continue to submit copies of their current and past business cards, for both themselves and for their staff. In addition
to the 86 cards on hand, 53 cards have been found within the individual member and firm application files, when it
was a requirement to submit those for SAA Council approval as part of the registration process. The collection total
increased from 125 to 139 cards in 2017.

Photo Identification
Retired SAA member Wayne Zelmer (SAA # 328) has agreed to help identify unidentified people in SAA photos on file
at the Provincial Archives of Saskatchewan.

In Memoriam
Following is a brief tribute to the two members of the association who passed away during the past year. Members
are asked to please forward any obituary or career information relating to recently deceased members to the
Corporate Archivist for incorporation into the SAA records at the Provincial Archives.
GERALD IVER NORBRATEN: 1931 - 2017

Gerry Norbraten was born in Swift Current, was education in Neudorf and Regina, and obtained his architectural
degree from the University of Manitoba in 1958. He married Vivian Hall in 1957 and they had three children: Garth,
Corinne and Erik. Gerry joined Stock Ramsay Architects in 1958 and later became a partner in the firm of Stock and
Partners. He established his own firm in 1975, called G.I. Norbraten Architect Ltd. and practiced his profession until
2006 when ill health forced him to retire. His final four years were spent at Regina’s Wascana Rehabilitation Centre.
Gerry’s architectural achievements included restoration of Regina’s historic Darke Hall and the old #1 Fire Hall,
construction of the Shurniak Art Gallery and of the Prince of Wales Cultural and Recreational Centre (both in
Assiniboia), Broadway Terrace (a home for independent seniors in Regina), plus numerous schools, nursing homes,
and churches throughout the province. In addition, he was active in a substantial number of community
organizations.
JAMES WILLIAM EBBELS: 1948 – 2017

Jim Ebbels and his twin brother Jack (1948-2010) were born and raised in Regina. He obtained a B.A. from the
University of Alberta, and a Masters in Environmental Design from the University of Calgary. Jim was initially married
to Elisabeth Stoppa; they had a daughter, Alecia. In 2005 he married Bonnie Hankins and they lived in Edmonton.
Jim was the first of four heritage architects who worked at the Heritage Branch of the Provincial Government between
1980 and 2017. In that capacity, he oversaw the preservation and sensitive redevelopment of important historic
buildings throughout the province. Upon leaving the Heritage Branch, Jim returned to Arnott McPhail Associates
where he coordinated that firm’s heritage and other design projects. His exceptional architectural expertise called on
him to travel extensively throughout Canada and the world, including the development of the Saskatchewan Pavilion
at Expo 86 in Vancouver. In 1988 Jim joined the Ex Terra Foundation, and later became a senior partner in Kasian
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EDUCATION
EDUCATION COMMITTEE
Chris Kailing and Laurie Njaa
The SAA Education Committee members and appointees carry a significant workload, particularly in the areas of core
continuing education reviews and approvals, the Internship in Architecture Program (IAP), and the RAIC Syllabus
Program. A great amount of time is expended outside of SAA Council meetings to ensure quality continuing education
is available to SAA members.
Thank you to all the committee members for your participation in the program, Tammi Denby and Derek Kindrachuck,
and to new Education Committee member, Jillian Peltier.
Thanks, also, to all those who give their time as mentors and supervising architects in ensuring that the younger
members of the profession develop their experience, knowledge, and skills.

Education Committee 3-Year Work Plan/Strategic Planning Priorities
In August 2016, the Education Committee initiated a three-year work plan. Many of the activities identified were
completed or were on-going at the end of the last fiscal year. In 2017, the full SAA Council developed an overall
strategic plan for the organization; more details are elsewhere in the annual report. For the Education Committee, the
following key activities took place (status as of February 2018):
Project 1 – 2018-2020 Continuing Education Program and Guide

• Building on the results of last year’s survey on SAA Continuing Education, and feedback on the 2016-2018
Program and Guide, two focus group sessions were convened to develop recommendations for program and
process revisions for the 2018-2020 Con Ed Cycle.
• Final guide will be presented to SAA Council for adoption in March.
• Program and guide revisions will be presented at this year’s SAA Member Forum.
Project 2 – Updates to the Audit Process

• Revisions to the audit process will be based on the new 2018-2020 Con Ed Program and Guide, incorporating
the comments and recommendations from the focus group participants.
Project 3 – Support for First Registration

• This project is moving to 2018-2019 strategic priorities.
Project 4 – Core Application Update

• The Core Con Ed Application document revisions follow the work of Project 1, with anticipated completion in
June 2018.
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STRATEGIC PLANNING PRIORITIES FOR 2018-2019:

The strategic priorities for the Education Committee for the upcoming year include:
• Project 1 – Support for Interns, Syllabus, First Registration
• Project 2 – Education Committee Handbook
• Project 3 – Architecture Outreach and Advocacy Toolkit

Mandatory Continuing Education Program
The purpose of the Con Ed Program is to ensure that members are remaining current in their learning and
professional development. Con Ed is an integral component of our self-regulation and is outlined in Bylaw 31 of the
Bylaws of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects. Con Ed is also a key component to ensure the “objects of the
Association (SAA)” per The Architects Act, 1996. Those objects are:
a) To ensure for the public the proficiency and competency of members who practice architecture;
b) To promote and increase the knowledge, skill and proficiency in all things related to the practice of architecture.
2016-2018 CON ED CYCLE COMPLETION:

June 30, 2018 marks the end of the 2016-2018 Con Ed Cycle. As per the SAA Con Ed Guide, an audit of 3% of
members’ transcripts will be administered. We encourage all members to review the requirements of the current SAA
Con Ed Guide, which can be found on the SAA website, and to make sure that their RAIC transcript is up to date and
in compliance.
CONTINUING EDUCATION GUIDE:

A major project for the Education Committee has been to complete a substantial overhaul of the SAA Guide to
Continuing Education for the 2018-2020 cycle. This initiative started in 2016 and since then the Education
Committee has been gathering valuable information from members and other jurisdictions to help inform what
changes should be made. Two important components of this were a continuing education member survey and
member focus group sessions.
CONTINUING EDUCATION MEMBER SURVEY:

In December of 2016, a survey was developed and administered to gain member feedback on the SAA Continuing
Education Program. The intent of the survey was to help inform potential revisions to the 2018-2020 SAA Guide to
Continuing Education. Results from this survey were presented at the 2017 SAA Member Forum.
FOCUS GROUPS FOR THE 2018-2020 CON ED PROGRAM AND GUIDE:

In October and November of 2017, SAA members were invited to participate in focus group sessions to discuss the SAA
Continuing Education Program, and determine how to make the program more user-friendly, consistent, and relevant to
the education of architects. The group reviewed the current program and guide, compared this to the continuing
education programs of architectural jurisdictions across Canada, and made recommendations to SAA Council.
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CORE CONTINUING EDUCATION:

One of the tasks of the members of the Education Committee is to review applications for “Core Con Ed”. In 2017, a
total of 98 core learning hours were reviewed and approved by the SAA Education Committee. The Education
Committee is currently working to streamline the application and review process of core hours. It is important that
members confirm with education providers that they have applied for core credits with the SAA, particularly with
regard to conferences, seminars, and workshops that take place outside of Saskatchewan. We encourage members
to contact the SAA office if they are unsure if an education opportunity is approved for “Core Con Ed”.
The SAA newsletters and website identify approved core credit courses. The past SAA newsletters are also available
on the website.

2017 Bursary Award Program
The SAA Bursary Award program is now in its 9th year (started in 2009). A $10,000 bursary (repayable award) is
awarded to a maximum of three eligible applicants each year. Recipients are chosen annually by a selection
committee. The bursary/repayable award is forgiven when the recipient completes three years of internship and
employment in Saskatchewan.
The SAA established this program to encourage the growth of a vibrant profession in this province and to promote
the retention of architects in Saskatchewan. Students and graduates of a qualifying architectural degree program at
all accredited Canadian schools are eligible; those from other accredited North American schools may also apply,
subject to presenting career plans and obtaining their CACB Certificate.
The application due date for 2018 is April 2nd. Award recipients (if any) will be identified at the AGM.
2017 AWARD RECIPIENTS

Landon Lucyk
Dustin Braun
Anne Gorsalitz (Anne has moved to Alberta, so returned her bursary award)

INTERNSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE PROGRAM
Jim McEwen
The Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) continues to fulfill its role to assist intern architects in developing their
experience, knowledge, and skills as they work towards registration as full members of the SAA. There are currently 26
individuals enrolled in the program who are making ongoing Canadian Experience Record Book (CERB) submissions
(12 from Regina and 14 from Saskatoon). An additional four people are reporting as Syllabus – Part II students.
Seven interns completed the IAP in 2017 and have registered as architects with the SAA.
The IAP relies heavily on the participation of supervising architects, who guide and support the interns on a daily
basis in the working environment and ensure practical architectural experience is gained in the transition from
education to practice. Mentor architects meet regularly with the interns to provide guidance related to career
objectives and broader professional issues. Both roles are integral to the IAP process and participating members are
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encouraged to remain familiar with the requirements of the program. The SAA appreciates the ongoing efforts of all
participants.
To assist interns, supervising architects, and mentors in navigating the requirements of the IAP program the SAA has
created an “FAQ” page to clarify some important details of the program. This page can be found on the “Interns”
page of the Registration & Licensure section of the SAA website.
The Examination for Architects in Canada (ExAC) has remained the preferred examination option among SAA Interns
in 2017, with nine candidates having written some or all of the ExAC this year and no interns having written the
NCARB exams.
The results for Saskatchewan candidates who wrote the ExAC in November 2017 are as follows:
ExAC

WROTE

PASS

FAIL

Section 1

9

7

2

Section 2

8

5

3

Section 3

8

5

3

Section 4

8

7

1

RAIC SYLLABUS PROGRAM
LeeAnn Croft and Lyle Wiebe
The mission of the RAIC Syllabus Program is to provide architectural education nationally through practical
experience and courses of study for aspiring and current members of the profession as well as members of the public
with a personal interest in architecture.
The RAIC offers an accessible alternative through a direct, self-paced program of academic studies, design studios,
and practical experience leading to the RAIC Diploma in Architecture - accepted in Canada as equivalent to a
professional university degree in architecture. Graduates from the Syllabus Program are entitled to use the
designation “Dipl. Arch.”, indicating that they have completed all requirements of the RAIC Syllabus Diploma.
In 1978, the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada (RAIC) Certification Board established the RAIC Syllabus, a
national expansion of Provincial Architecture Association Minimum Syllabus programs. Syllabus is a unique program
that permits people working in the architecture profession to proceed through a course of study to reach professional
registration. The Syllabus Program has been developed for those who find it impossible to attend a school of
architecture, although such study at the university level is recommended.
Following graduation from the RAIC Syllabus Program, and issuance of the RAIC Diploma in Architecture, the graduate
then applies to the CACB for certification of academic qualifications. Depending on individual provincial association
requirements, diploma program students write their professional examination while completing the final design
thesis, upon completion of the final design thesis, or following certification by the CACB. Internship requirements
following academic certification also vary from province to province. Upon completion of all provincial association
requirements, the RAIC Syllabus graduate becomes a Registered Architect.
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Saskatchewan representation continues to be at a record high with registration for 2017 are as per the following:

RAIC Syllabus, 2017 Term 1, Winter
NAME

CITY

STUDIO

COURSE(S)

Tayler M. LaBelle

Regina

Seanna Guillemin

Regina

Jessica Gibson

Regina

Mackenzie Costable

Regina

ARCH200,320,330

Ken MacPherson

Regina

ARCH320/APST240

Riteshbai Mistry

Saskatoon

ARCH300/420

Maret Johnson

Saskatoon

Registered

MENTOR

ARCH330

RAIC655(D7)

Chris Roszell

RAIC Syllabus, 2017 Term 2, Fall
NAME

CITY

STUDIO

COURSE(S)

Aaron Dobroskay

Saskatoon

Soroush Bahrani

Saskatoon

Taylor LeBelle

Regina

ARCH200

Ken MacPherson

Regina

ARCH320/APST240

Seanna Guillemin

Regina

ARCH200

Sarah Robertson

Saskatoon

ARCH645

Maret Johnson

Saskatoon

Registered

MENTOR

APST320
RAIC200 (D1)

Bertrand Bartake

The program continues to evolve at the national level with significant work being done to advance the delivery of the
program as well as provide clarity in areas that have lacked definition.

New Student Portal
As of early 2018, a new, online Syllabus system was implemented. This new student portal allows students to register
and pay for RAIC studio courses online, inform RAIC of the AU courses they are currently enrolled in, request official
documents, and upload CERB logs for review.
A new learning platform (Moodle) was also created and synced with the student portal. This interactive platform
allows both coordinators and instructors, as well as students, to upload documents and assignments, discuss topics
or ask questions on a message board, as well as submit and view grades.
As of Term 1 2018, all studio grade information and final assessments will be shared through this new platform.
Students will be required to upload their design documentation to the site prior to receiving their final grades.
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Mentorship Opportunity
The Saskatchewan coordinators, Lyle Wiebe and LeeAnn Croft, would like to extend a big thank you to all of those
who participated as mentors and critics in 2017 and would encourage anyone interested in participating in either of
these roles to contact them for further information.
Members may receive up to 10 hours of self-directed continuing education credits for their contribution in each
48-month cycle.

SENATE – UNIVERSITY OF REGINA
Bernie Flaman
This is the second year of my second term as Saskatchewan Association of Architects representative on University of
Regina (U of R) Senate. Three meetings were held in 2017: February 4, June 7, and October 20.
Highlights of the February meeting included the Chancellor congratulating President Timmons for being awarded the
2016 CTV Regina Citizen of the Year. The President sent out a statement opposing the United States Presidential
executive order regarding the immigration ban being imposed on several countries; senate verbalized support for the
statement. Following a discussion of the budget, it was agreed that management would provide a presentation on
the 2017-2018 budget at the June senate meeting. A presentation entitled “Mapping Change” was delivered by
Professor Rae Staseson, Dean, Faculty of Media, Art, and Performance (MAP) that focused on new branding and
initiatives for MAP.
At the June meeting President Timmons noted that the 22nd balanced budget has been delivered, but everyone has
taken a cut. Cuts in the budget (7%) caused layoffs. PST changes and money for scholarships at the university were
removed which went unnoticed beyond the cuts. The tuition fee rate increase was 2.5% to maintain budget status
quo. The U of R is an economic driver and the student outcome in terms of getting jobs is very high (88% in the first
two years). Humanities and Social Sciences Congress is being hosted at U of R in 2018. The renovation and addition
to the College Avenue Campus has been unveiled and a completion date in 2018 was noted. I spoke about the need
for the new Conexus addition to be in line with the conservation standards for additions and be compatible with the
historic complex. John Smith reported that Aboriginal student enrollment is up to 16% of the university student body.
The top three nations for international students are China, India, and Saudi Arabia. President Timmons noted that the
provincial grant when she started was $59M and it is now $51M. The budget issues were summarized in a
presentation by Provost and Vice-President (Academic), Dr. Thomas Chase entitled “Overview of the 2017-2018
University Budget”. Budget information is available at the following link: https://www.uregina.ca/orp/.
At the October meeting, President Timmons conveyed three key messages: students are once again attending the U
of R in record numbers; the fall semester, overall enrolment (including the Federated Colleges) is over 15,000
students; this represents the ninth consecutive year of enrolment increases, and the seventh consecutive year of
record enrolment. Enrolment is up more than a third since 2008.
The University of Regina has done its part in terms of facing operating cuts. It has had two consecutive mid-year
clawbacks and a significant reduction in its budget for this year. The post secondary sector – and U of R in particular
– has been one of the hardest hit areas in terms of the provincial budget.
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Since the last meeting, the university passed its 23rd consecutive balanced budget, which is a tremendous
accomplishment considering the province’s financial situation and the significant cuts the university received in the
provincial operating budget. If cuts continue as they have been, however, it will be increasingly difficult for the
university to serve it’s growing number of students.
The meeting was wrapped up with a presentation by Dr. Thomas Chase, Provost and Vice President (Academic),
entitled “Gathering Diversities”. It highlighted the upcoming Congress of the Humanities and Social Sciences to be
held in Regina May 28- June 1, 2018. Several tours and lectures are open to the public and may provide SAA
members with self-directed learning opportunities: www.congress2018.ca.
Meeting agendas and minutes are posted on the University of Regina website under the “governance” tab.

SENATE – UNIVERSITY OF SASKATCHEWAN
Grant McKercher
The University of Saskatchewan (U of S) Senate is one of the three governing bodies of the U of S, with the Senate
dealing with public issues. The other two governing bodies are the University Council (academics) and the Board of
Governors (financial management). The U of S Senate’s membership consists of more than 80 senators, including
appointed members from professions, U of S alumni, members at large, and representatives of the student body. The
Minister of Advanced Education, Deans of the U of S Colleges, and the President and Provost of the University are all
ex officio members.
The U of S Senate has regular meetings twice a year (spring and fall). The U of S provided an orientation for new
members the morning of the senate meeting on October 21, 2017. The next meetings will be April 21, 2018 and
October 20, 2018.
SAA members will be pleased to hear that President, Peter Stoicheff, and Provost, Tony Vannelli, have continued to
show increasing interest in the school of architecture initiative, and are actively collaborating with the SAA and SAVA.
The initiative is aligned well with President Stoicheff’s vision for a broad academic environment including the visual
arts. Through the senate connection, I was able to arrange a meeting with the Provost, SAA President Jeanna South,
and myself, where ideas were shared regarding further opportunities for SAA and SAA member engagement. Please
see the President’s Report and the School of Architecture and Visual Arts (SAVA) Report for the status of the initiative.
It is interesting to note that the U of S is one of a small minority of universities with a senate. The senate is a way for U
of S leadership to have direct contact with Saskatchewan industry, political, and community groups, and this brings
helpful diversity to the university approval process.
At the October meeting, Chancellor Roy Romanow chaired many of the discussions during the open microphone
sessions. The highlight of this meeting was the introduction of the concept diagram for the new University Plan. The
concept diagram tied together key words and phrases within a graphic to convey the strategy of leadership for the
coming years. This graphic is publicly available at: https://www.usask.ca/plan/. This concept will be the overarching set
of values that will be used to guide and test the myriad of initiatives and academic and management decisions that are
made at the U of S at all levels in the coming years. It is easy to forget the size and complexity of the U of S as an
organization; these conceptual statements can help elevate the cohesiveness of decision making across the campus.
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There were other thought provoking presentations in addition to a series of more routine pragmatic approvals. The
information presented by the U of S to senate members was informative and well prepared. For those of you
interested in more detail, the agendas and minutes of senate meetings are available on the U of S website: https://
www.usask.ca/secretariat/governing-bodies/senate/agendas-and-minutes.php.
My personal thank you to the SAA Council for this appointment. The term began July 1, 2017 and ends June 30, 2020.
On behalf of SAA members, I offer our thanks and appreciation to Charles Olfert for his past commitment to the U of S
Senate and the Senate Executive Committee.

SASKATCHEWAN POLYTECHNIC – ARCHITECTURAL TECHNOLOGIES
Justin Wotherspoon
The Architectural Technologies program continues to be fully subscribed with a growing wait list. Forty students are
currently enrolled in first year; 30 students are currently on a work term, and 29 students are in their final semester:
14 in the Building Science option and 15 in the Interior Design option. Promotional activities by the institution seem
to have increased the number of applicants, reducing recent concerns about the lack of a wait list.
All work term students are currently employed and the institution reports that all of the outgoing students are on track
for placement. Saskatchewan Polytechnic has been pleased to be seeing a rebound in industry that has led to
increased number of placements.
The Architectural Technologies Program continues its process of consulting with the Program Advisory Committee to
review proposed curriculum updates in order to meet ongoing accreditation requirements. It has also recently met
with a panel of industry representatives to gauge external perception of the program in the local labour market to
ensure that this perception alights with program marketing materials and objectives. The aim is to recognize the
diverse needs of today’s post-secondary student, while maintaining the high quality of graduate that industry expects.
Continued consultation with industry will continue to ensure that the curriculum meets these goals.
Saskatchewan Polytechnic’s Bachelor Degree in Construction Management will launch in September 2018. Students
have already been accepted into the program. The program head is Mr. Ahmed Hosni, who is a professional engineer
with 21 years of academic and industry experience. The Architectural Technologies program continues to work closely
with Mr. Hosni to ensure graduates of the technology program will ladder successfully into the degree program.
The program has just signed an articulation agreement with Athabasca University for transfer credits into their
Bachelor of Science in Architecture program. Students will be granted credit for about a quarter of the required
credits. The program has also renewed their articulation agreement with RCC Institute of Technology Bachelor of
Interior Design (Division of Yorkville University, NB), which gives students a little over half of the required credits
towards their interior design degree.
The program would like to express ongoing appreciation for SAA members who have served as occasional lecturers,
guest critics, and advisory committee members. In the fall of 2017, it was the program’s pleasure to welcome SAA
members who made a presentation to second year students about the SAA. The program continues to value its close
contacts with the architectural profession and the construction industry.
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Communications
COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE
Frank Bojkovsky
During the past year the Communications Committee has been involved in the following projects and initiatives:

SAA Website
The content of the SAA website is continuously being reviewed and evaluated; modifications and updates to the site
are ongoing. Based on the feedback received from membership at the last AGM, the committee worked with
administration to implement a “classified ad” page to post open positions and career opportunities for members.
Council endorsed the proposed changes in November of 2017 and the service will be available to members free of
charge in 2018.
A plan to engage membership to update the SAA’s photo library of relevant projects realized in Saskatchewan was
formulated and members will be asked (starting in 2018) on a bi-annual basis to submit current and past project
photos to the SAA office, which will be added to the SAA’s project photo library. Submitted project photos will be
featured on the SAA webpage on a rotational basis.

Support for Design Advocacy
The SAA continues to provide financial support for public advocacy initiatives such as OPEN, Regina Advocates for
Design (RAD), Great Places, and Doors Open. Financial support was recently provided to 1:1, a discussion group in
Saskatoon focused on improving equality, promoting inclusivity, and encouraging diversity in the architectural profession.

Newsletters
The committee continues to communicate industry news, upcoming events, as well as continuing education learning
opportunities to members through our regular digital newsletters. The frequency was increased in 2017 to bi-weekly
issues to achieve better coverage and inform members of events in a timely manner.

Future Projects
The Communications Committee will continue to work on strengthening the communication with cities and municipal
authorities. The goal remains to prepare and distribute a communication piece to cities and municipalities on what to
consider when hiring an architect, as well as the licensing requirements for firms providing architectural services in
Saskatchewan. The distribution of this document will include health authorities, school regions, post-secondary
schools, crown corporations, and government departments.
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DESIGN COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
Bertrand Bartake and Craig Cowan
The Design Council of Saskatchewan (DCS) is the collective voice of six provincial associations representing design
professionals working in the disciplines of architecture, engineering + geoscience, graphic design, interior design,
landscape architecture, and planning. Established in 1983, the Design Council continues its mandate to promote
public awareness of great design completed by members of our local professional associations and to provide
educational opportunities to the public.
2017 was a big year for DCS. The Design Council recently re-established itself as a registered not for profit
organization with ISC. We continued to promote design awareness forming relationships with other like-minded
groups. We participated in and led a Jane’s Walk in May, which we hope will become an annual DCS partnership.
DCS also hosted Saskatchewan Design Week during the week of September 23rd – 29th. Design Week expanded
with more events in Regina and Saskatoon including a launch party, public lectures, movie nights, and tours. An
excellent line up of speakers participated in this year’s event including: Omar Gandhi, recognized as one of the
world’s top 20 young architects by Wallpaper* Magazine; Jason Kasper, Interior Designer, founder and principal of
IDEATE Design Consulting; and Robin Mazumder, Vanier Scholar studying the psychological impacts of urban design.
The week concluded with the 2017 Premier’s Awards of Excellence in Design Gala, which recognized great design
work completed right here in our province. Congratulations to all of the winners listed below.
Craig Cowan’s term as director of DCS has come to a close. The Design Council of Saskatchewan would like to thank
Craig for his devotion, expertise, and countless hours of volunteering. Bertrand Bartake has taken over the director
duties with DCS for the term ending in 2020. An additional SAA member will join DCS for a four-year overlapping
term. Please contact Bertrand or the SAA Communications Committee if you are interested.
For more information about Saskatchewan Design Week and the Design Council of Saskatchewan, please visit www.
designcouncil.sk.ca.

Premier’s Awards for Excellence in Design Winners:
ARCHITECTURE
Award of Excellence: Kreate Architecture and Designs Ltd. Project: Piapot First Nation Arbour
Award of Excellence: RBM Architecture Inc. Project: Gordon Oaks Red Bear Student Centre
Award of Merit: P3Architecture Partnership Project: École Gravelbourg School
Honourable Mention: RBM Architecture Inc. Project: Rammed Earth Residence
Honourable Mention: PMGM Architecture Ltd. Project: Multi-Tenant Facility, Airside - Regina International Airport
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GRAPHIC DESIGN
Award of Excellence: Hal Schrenk Graphic Design Project: Hi-5 Pitch Package
Award of Merit: Saskatoon Public Library / Ryan Schmidt Project: Better Than Ever: 2016 Report To Our Community
Award of Merit: Hal Schrenk Graphic Design Project: Learn to Fly
Honourable Mention: Saskatoon Public Library / Ryan Schmidt Project: Strategic Plan 2016-2021
ENGINEERING
Award of Excellence: ISL Engineering and Land Services Project: Wilson’s Lifestyle Centre Retail Building
Award of Excellence: JC Kenyon Engineering Project: Mosaic Stadium at Evraz Place
Award of Merit: Catterall & Wright Project: Osler Multi-Purpose Storm Pond & Soccer Facility
INTERIOR DESIGN
Award of Excellence: aodbt architecture + interior design Project: Felesky Flynn LLP
Award of Merit: Cite 360 Studio Project: Dean Renwick Design Studio & Boutique
Honourable Mention: aodbt architecture + interior design Project: Hyde Park View
Honourable Mention: aodbt architecture + interior design Project: Ronald McDonald House Family Room
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
Award of Excellence: Stantec Consulting Ltd. Project: Brighton Parks and Ponds
Award of Merit: City of Saskatoon Project: Core Strength: 21st Street Renewal
Award of Merit: Crosby Hanna & Associates Project: McOrmond Drive Green Bridge
INTEGRATED DESIGN
Award of Excellence: aodbt architecture + interior design, Key West Engineering Ltd., PWA Engineering Ltd.
Project: LutherCare Village
Award of Merit: Oxbow Architecture, JC Kenyon Engineering, Daniel’s Wingerak Engineering, Ritenburg and
Associates, Catterall and Wright, D-Code Engineering Project: Health + Light: Avenue P Medical Office Building
Honourable Mention: Group2 Architecture Interior Design Ltd., Crosby Hanna & Associates, Entuitive, ISL
Engineering and Land Services Ltd. Project: Saskatchewan Joint-Use Schools Project Technical Advisory Services
PEOPLE’S CHOICE
Award: Oxbow Architecture, JC Kenyon Engineering, Daniel’s Wingerak Engineering, Ritenburg and Associates,
Catterall and Wright, D-Code Engineering Project: Health + Light: Avenue P Medical Office Building
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PRAIRIE DESIGN AWARDS
Jeff Howlett
Every two years, the Alberta Association of Architects (AAA), the Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA), and
the Manitoba Association of Architects (MAA) celebrate those setting new standards of creativity and skill in
architecture and interior design. This tri-provincial collaboration has been recognizing design excellence in the
prairies since its inauguration in 2000.
The 2018 Prairie Design Awards will take place in conjunction with Banff Session in May 2018. The Prairie Design
Awards will be awarded on Friday, May 11, 2018 at the Fairmont Banff Springs Hotel. Please contact the AAA at
780-432-0224 or events@aaa.ab.ca for more information.
The MAA will host the awards in 2020. The SAA will next host the awards in 2022.

RAIC REGIONAL DIRECTOR
Jason Robbins
The Royal Architectural Institute of Canada (RAIC) is the leading voice for excellence in the built environment in Canada;
the RAIC continues to demonstrate how architects can address important issues through responsible design. The RAIC
and the architecture profession provide value. We are uniquely able to address issues facing Canadian society.
This fall, the RAIC was invited to present to the Senate Standing Committee on Innovation & Green Design. This was a
major coup and a recognition that architects lead the charge towards a more sustainable future. Through the
presentation we were able to emphasize that low design fees are an impediment to innovation and cause increased
construction costs. Read more on this here: https://www.raic.org/news/raic-presents-senate-standing-committeeenergy-environment-and-natural-resources.
Over the course of 2017, we engaged in a strategic planning session that reinforces and focuses our commitments to:
• Membership engagement
• Continuing education
• Advocacy
• Practice support
The Practice Support Committee supported by Don Ardiel, OAA, MRAIC is working hard to be the voice of architecture
at CCDC meetings, the Federal Industry Real Property Advisory Council (FIRPAC), discussions of QBS, and the
concerns of uninsurable RFPs produced by BGIS.
I am pleased to be able to continue to provide regional support to the excellent work of our local grassroots initiatives
and activities. Engaging the public in the built environment is one of the most important pieces of advocacy that we
do. Please contact me with any questions for how the RAIC can support your event or undertaking either financially or
in-kind: jasonrobbins@raic.org.
Thanks again, to all members of the RAIC, for their support. If you are not a member of the RAIC- consider joining. As
the primary national voice of architecture, our ability to affect change will be greater with more professional
members. Visit: https://www.raic.org/whyjoin.
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MINUTES OF THE 2017 ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING OF THE
SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF
ARCHITECTS
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Saturday, May 6, 2017
Top of the Inn
Sheraton Cavalier, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
MEETING ATTENDEES
Louis Aussant

Alan Downing

Jeff Jurzyniec

Roger Mitchell

Reg Squires

Kirk Banadyga

Allan Duddridge

Bill Kelly

Frank Moore

Rod Stutt

Bertrand Bartake

Bill Edwards

Patrick Kelly

Wes Moore
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Rob Beug

David C. Edwards

Derek Kindrachuk
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Jocelyn Tanner
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Ted Engel

Heney Klypak

Olena Pavlyuk

Colin Tennent

Frank Bojkovsky

Darrel Epp

Henry Lau

Rory Picklyk

Andrew Wallace

Bob Burnyeat

Bernie Flaman

Hengliang Li

Laura Plosz

Amy Webb

Lilia Buza

Jillian Gerlach

Darlene Machibroda

John Riddell

Lyle Wiebe

Gary Cooper

Isaac Hayes

Robyn Robertson

Ken Wilson

A. John Cope

Keith Henry

Kirstin Mahan
Thompson

Frank Schaffel

Victoria Yong-Hing

Craig Cowan

Bianca Hilbert

Jim McEwen

Jim Siemens

Yuna Zou

Willem de Lint

Chris Hodgson

Tammi Denby

Jason Hurd

Kurt Dietrich

Harry Jedlic

Brenda-Dale McLean

David W. Edwards

Chris Kailing

Jeanna South

Ray Gosselin

Laurie Njaa

James Youck

Paul Koopman

Daniel Reeves

John McGinn
Grant McKercher

COUNCIL ATTENDEES

STAFF ATTENDEES

Annette Horvath
Rhonda Schindel
Whitney Robson
CHAIRPERSON

Ray Gosselin, President
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Mark Sin
Troy Smith
Maurice Soulodre

1. Call to Order
The 2017 Annual General Meeting was called to order at 1:35 PM with 72 resident, voting SAA members in
attendance, including 8 councillors.

2. President’s Welcome
President Ray Gosselin welcomed all in attendance and introduced 2016/2017 SAA Council. He welcomed special
guest, Jason Robbins, RAIC Regional Representative for Saskatchewan/Manitoba. He also introduced the Conference
Planning Committee and thanked them for their work.
Members were reminded that attendees who sign in will receive 2 hours of Core Con Ed for the AGM.

3. Acceptance of the Agenda
Paul Blaser requested that a motion regarding the 2016/2018 Con Ed requirements be added under “Other Business”.
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership accept the agenda of the 2017 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan
Association of Architects, with the above noted addition.

Moved by: James Youck

Seconded by: Colin Tennant

Carried

4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2016 Annual General Meeting
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership accept the minutes of the 2016 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan
Association of Architects.

Moved by: Bill Kelly

Seconded by: David W. Edwards

Carried

5. Nominating Committee Report and Introduction of Council Member Nominees
Past-President, David W. Edwards, reported that there were three positions on Council to be filled, and that four
members had let their names be put forward for consideration:
Frank Bojkovsky
Craig Cowan
Chris Kailing
Roger Mitchell
David W. Edwards informed SAA membership that last year Bernie Flaman resigned his position on Council; at that
time Council appointed Chris Kailing to fulfill the one year remaining of Bernie’s term. Chris is running this year for a
full term on Council.
The first call for nominations from the floor was made.

55

6. 2016 Financial Statements and 2017 Operating Budget
Daniel Reeves indicated that the 2016 Financial Statements were published in the SAA 2016 Annual Report (pages
60 - 70).
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership accept the 2016 (unaudited) Financial Statements of the Saskatchewan Association
of Architects.

Moved by: Daniel Reeves

Seconded by: Rory Picklyk

Discussion:

Allan Duddridge asked about the “annual automatic increase to dues” that was mentioned in the Secretary-Treasurer
Report. The report currently reads as if Council made a unilateral decision. Duddridge wanted it clarified that this item
will come back to membership, as a whole, for discussion.
Reply: This item will be discusse d under “Acceptance of Reports”.
Bill Edwards asked where the money under “Other” on page 64 is from?
Reply: Excess fundraising from last year’s AGM.
Andrew Wallace commented on the $92,000 decrease in annual dues from 2015 to 2016. If this is the trend,
shouldn’t the 2017 number be lower (the operating budget shows $600,000 for 2017)?
Reply: The 2017 number was based on last year’s numbers. Council will take this under advisement.
Kirstin Mahan Thompson asked about the difference in advocacy dollars form 2015 to 2016 – why the $27,000
difference?
Reply: The website update and Prairie Design Awards took place in 2016.
Roger Mitchell asked whether or not all 2017 annual dues have been collected?
Reply: Yes, all 2017 annual dues are in.
Isaac Hayes asked about the jump in the cost of advocacy in past years.
Reply: Again – the cost was mostly the re-design and implementation of the website.
Carried
Daniel Reeves indicated that the 2017 Operating Budget was published in the SAA 2016 Annual Report (page 8).
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership adopt the 2017 Operating Budget of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects.

Moved by: Daniel Reeves

Seconded by: David W. Edwards

Discussion:

Grant McKercher commented on the lack of amortization. What are our projections for membership?
Reply: Stable and/or slight decrease expected in numbers; they are stable right now.
Allan Duddridge asked if the numbers do decrease, does that mean extra dues to the current members to get the
budget number to the goal.
Reply: No, if funds were needed to meet the budget they would come from reserves. However, costs of the
association do go up every year, so a creeping rate raise for annual member dues does need to be considered to stay
on track with the budget.
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Grant McKercher commented that in 2016 it appears that registrations are down but annual dues are going up – and
the numbers are not looking any better for 2017 (economy).
Reply: The easiest way for the SAA to deal with a deficit, should it come to that in 2017, is via the reserves. Not best
solution for everything. The three year projection budget will assist us going forward.
David C. Edwards asked about professional fees – the number in the budget for 2017 is half of what it was in 2016.
Is 2017 an audited year? When a new executive director comes in – there is often an audit (which would mean more
in professional fees).
Reply: Council will take this under advisement.
Allan Duddridge asked about fines being seen as a windfall. He commented that the offences that the fines result
from take up Council’s time; Council has to fine to make up for their time. The concern is that architects themselves
are not in compliance. With renewals there is a grace period – there could be harsher penalties here.
Reply: We do not budget for fines – this is not seen as a revenue source. The SAA is not fining members to meet the budget.
Treasurer Daniel Reeves indicated that the line in the Treasurer’s Report about the annual increase was not a policy
statement and was reported incorrectly. Jeanna South stated that there has since been other discussion around the
Council table.
Grant McKercher asked about the “Advocacy” amount going up?
Reply: It will in the coming year(s) as we undertake a project to develop a database.
In the three-year projection Council plans to do going forward, major projects will be brought forward to membership
to review.
Jim Siemens asked if surpluses go to reserves? 60% of the operating budget is the goal for our reserves? A risk
assessment should be undertaken to see if that is appropriate. (What is our risk? Lease, salaries, etc.) Do fees need to
be increased before knowing what our reserves actually need to be?
Reply: Yes – 60% of the operating budget is the goal for reserves.
Derek Kindrachuk noted that he was on the AGM committee and that the conference/AGM budget included $10,000
seed money for the next year. The main revenues for the SAA seem to be membership dues and the conference/AGM.
If the conference/AGM makes a surplus – it should stay with the AGM/conference not go into the general coffers.
Member dues should pay the year-to-year operations.
Carried
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7. Acceptance of Reports
As all reports were published in the 2016 Annual Report and circulated to members previous to the AGM, individual
verbal reports were not given. Members with questions about specific reports were asked to voice them at this point.
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership accept all reports as printed in the 2016 SAA Annual Report, with an amendment
being made to the Secretary-Treasurer’s Report, as discussed previously (last sentence of paragraph five, page 11 of
2016 Annual Report to be struck).

Moved by: James Youck

Seconded by: Wes Moore

Discussion:

Grant McKercher asked a question about Priority Saskatchewan and a call for volunteers that the SAA had done previously.
Reply: This was to participate in a training exercise for people regarding procurement. SAA volunteers on hold. When
this item is back on the table, the SAA hopes it’ volunteers will still be willing.
Jeff Jurzyniec asked a question regarding the City of Regina Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC) and what
is happening with the review process at the City of Regina. Ray Polsker, SAA representative on MHAC, was not present
to answer.
Allan Duddridge inquired as to the SAA Honourary Corporate Archivist’s health (the report mentioned that he was ill
and had a reduced workload).
Reply: Frank Korvemaker’s health has improved. It was his 2016 workload that was affected; he should be back to a
regular workload for this year (2017).
Carried

8. Bylaw Amendments
Jeanna South and James Youck presented the 2017 proposed SAA bylaw amendments on behalf of the SAA Practice
Committee. The proposed bylaw amendments were circulated to membership in the 2016 Annual Report previous to
the AGM and were vetted by SAA Legal Counsel.
2017 BYLAW AMENDMENT RATIFICATION BY MEMBERS

MOTION: THAT SAA Membership ratify the amendment to Appendix A, as printed in the 2016 Annual Report.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Rory Picklyk

Discussion:

Derek Kindrachuk asked why members are being asked to approve now rather than then before it went into effect.
Reply: This is an administrative amendment and so it went into effect after Council approved it. It has been received
by the Director of Corporations (as per Section 16 of the Act) who accepts our administrative amendments. The last
step is for it to be ratified by members.
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Frank Moore asked why the SAA doesn’t do an increase every year.
Reply: Council would like to “right size” the “ask” or the number rather than having it be a nominal increase every
year; the amount will vary year to year.
Willem de Lint asked what happens if is not ratified by membership?
Reply: The fees will go back to the previous rates; no refunds will be issued for the administered fees to date.
Grant McKercher emphasized that membership wants to vote on dues before they go into effect.
Alan Downing asked if non-resident members pay the same fees?
Reply: Yes; fees cannot be different for local versus non-local members.
Jim Siemens suggested the fee for the AGM/conference be built into the annual dues.
Carried
2017 PROPOSED BYLAW AMENDMENTS

Jeanna and James explained that there were seven regulatory bylaw amendments to be made this year and that they
would be presented for approval with one motion.
Membership requested that individual motions be made for each of the amendments.
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 6.03.1.2, as printed in the
2016 Annual Report.

Moved by: Jeanna South

Seconded by: Maruice Soulodre

Jeanna South explained that the current provincial rates do not seem to suffice and the SAA does not want its
volunteers to have to subsidize their travel.
Discussion:

Roger Mitchell echoed that the rate is low and would have to be subsidized.
Carried
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 9.04, as printed in the 2016
Annual Report.

Moved by: James Youck

Seconded by: David W. Edwards

There have been concerns regarding when the life member vote happens (i.e.: at the AGM where nominee is present).
These changes are being suggested as a way to enable membership to vote on life membership(s) ahead of the AGM,
allowing them to avoid the potentially awkward situation of defeating a life member nomination when the individual
it pertains to is present.
Discussion:

Kirk Banadyga asked whether all members or only resident members could vote.
Reply: All members – that’s why the threshold has been moved from 4/5ths to 2/3rds – to accommodate the larger group.
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Jeff Jurzyniec asked about electronic voting.
Reply: This motion language allows for the vote to happen electronically.
Alan Downing voiced concern about life members not being Saskatchewan-based.
Paul Blaser asked for clarification as to 2/3rds – is that of all members?
Reply: No – 2/3rds of members who vote.
Carried
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 9.05, as printed in the 2016
Annual Report.

Moved by: Jeanna South

Seconded by: Jeff Jurzyniec

The change proposes removing “Financial Hardship” leave type as this is covered off under Bylaw 26.10.
Carried
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 13.02, as circulated with the
2016 Annual Report.

Moved by: James Youck

Seconded by: Daniel Reeves

SAA Bylaw 12.02 requires that corporations file any changes they make to incorporating documents, bylaws or
corporate structure (including shareholder agreement) with the SAA prior to the change coming into effect. The SAA
has instituted a fine for corporations that make changes to their shareholder structure before filing a change request
application with the SAA.
There is currently no equivalent requirement under Bylaw 13 for “Firms” (partnerships) – which means they cannot be
fined for delinquent filing of a change request application.
After discussing this with SAA legal counsel, Marcus Davies, he has suggested the amendment.
Discussion:

Bill Edwards commented that the list of item that need to be submitted seems too exhaustive.
After much discussion amongst members, this amendment was tabled. SAA Council will consider this item further.
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 21, as printed in the 2016
Annual Report.

Moved by: Jeanna South

Seconded by: Wes Moore

This bylaw is amended annually to update the rates (to match the CPI increase) and dates. A little bit of language
clean up has also been done this year.
Carried

60

MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 27.01.2.3, as printed in the
2016 Annual Report.

Moved by: James Youck

Seconded by: Alan Downing

This amendment brings back the requirement to have an architect sign at the construction site (changing may to shall).
This language was amended to what it is today in 2013. A Council Policy will need to be developed around this, perhaps
a template sign to be developed/suggested (i.e.: SAA identity and architect’s name at certain size). This will save the
Practice Committee time in chasing potential unlicensed practice/finding out who the firm and architect on the project is.
Discussion:

Paul Blaser spoke against the amendment. Any project – large or small – will need a sign; this is not practical or
enforceable.
Keith Henry stated that the owner can control whether or not you are allowed to put up a sign; funding agencies can
also say no to there being a sign.
Ken Wilson asked if the work is inside the building and on the 12th floor or in a remote community – do we still have
to put up a sign?
Laura Plosz – if involved but not the architect of record – then do you need to put up a sign?
Reply: This bylaw relates only to the architect of record.
Defeated
MOTION: THAT SAA Membership approve the 2017 proposed amendment to SAA Bylaw 31.02, as printed in the
2016 Annual Report.

Moved by: Jeanna South

Seconded by: Rory Picklyk

Should read “annual membership renewal” – language clarification.
Carried

9. Election of Council Members
The call for nominations from the floor was made twice more.
MOTION: THAT the nominations for SAA Council cease.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Bob Burnyeat

Carried

The four nominees addressed membership: Frank Bojkovsky, Craig Cowan, Chris Kailing, Roger Mitchell.
Annette Horvath, Rhonda Schindel, and Jason Robbins (RAIC) were appointed as scrutineers.
–Vote and Coffee Break –
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF ELECTION RESULTS

Congratulations to new SAA Councillors:

Frank Bojkovsky
Chris Kailing
Roger Mitchell
MOTION: THAT the ballots of the 2017 SAA Council election be destroyed.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Frank Moore

Carried

10. Appointment of Accountants for the Year Ending December 31, 2017
MOTION: THAT Ernst & Young LLP be appointed to perform the unaudited financial review for the year ending
December 31, 2017.

Moved by: Derek Kindrachuk

Seconded by: Willem de Lint

Carried

David C. Edwards commented that perhaps an audited statement should be considered for 2017 because of the
change in Executive Director.
Reply: Council will take this under advisement.

11. Other Business
Paul Blaser made the following motion:
MOTION: THAT the categories of self-directed learning in the SAA Continuing Education Guide be treated as suggested
maximums, not required maximums, and that core hours in excess of the minimum be accepted to meet the selfdirected requirement for the current reporting 2016 – 2018 cycle.

Moved: Paul Blaser

Seconded: Willem de Lint

Discussion:

Jeanna South suggested the following friendly amendment:
FRIENDLY AMENDMENT: THAT the categories of self-directed learning in the SAA Continuing Education Guide be
treated as suggested maximums, not required maximums, and that core hours in excess of the minimum be accepted
to meet the self-directed requirement for the current reporting 2016 – 2018 cycle, subject to regulatory requirements
and ensuring continued recognized equivalency across provinces.

Paul did not accept the friendly amendment – he reiterated that he wants Council to have the ability to not fine
members for having the correct total of hours, but in the wrong categories. The original motion stands.
Chris Kailing voiced concern with the motion on the floor (details), but agrees with the intent.
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Bernie Flaman voiced agreement with Kailing and stated that Council should iron out the details – the direction to
Council should stay general. He also noted that there should not be category maximums – you can log more, you just
cannot receive credit for them - so “recognized maximums”.
Grant McKercher voiced a word of appreciation for Council. The feedback received today is because members care
about how the Association operates – not a value judgement. Regarding reserves, he suggested that Council do a
three-year look ahead. Membership provided supportive direction to Council on this topic.
Council will take this direction back to the Council table – both on the Con Ed categories and the three-year
projection. In the Secretary-Treasurer report it was noted that work on a three-year projection would be done this year.
Council thanked membership for their feedback.
Grant McKercher indicated that members should vote on the budget before fees are collected.
Bill Edwards commented that every year there is discussion around approving the budget prior to annual dues being
set and collected. He suggested moving the annual meeting to November or moving fiscal year-end to June 30.
Membership indicated that they would like to see this.
David W. Edwards asked that Council consider AGM/conference fees being included in annual dues. Membership
provided Council with a directive to investigate this process; Council will look into this further.
Isaac Hayes asked a question about protection of the word “architect”.
Reply: Jeanna South let him know that the SAA published a bulletin on this topic – it is on the SAA website.
John Riddell asked what constitutes “resident”. There was much discussion about this. It was decided it meant that
you pay your taxes in the province. Practice Committee will look into this further.

12. Announcements
Plan to attend next year’s conference:
May 3 -5, 2018 Elk Ridge Resort, Waskesiu SK

13. Adjournment
The 2017 SAA AGM was declared adjourned at 3:42 PM.
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APPENDIX TO 2017 SAA AGM MINUTES
2017 SAA Bylaw Amendments
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2017 SAA Bylaw Amendment Ratified by Membership
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
A
R

A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW - Amendments come into force immediately upon being passed by SAA Council and are

subsequently ratified by membership. These amendments must be filed with the Director of Corporations.

REGULATORY BYLAW - Amendments come into force once they have been received and accepted by the Minister of Central

Services and published in The Saskatchewan Gazette.

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Appendix A
II. Annual fee for members and associate members of the Association is:
.1 a member who is an individual $900.00

Appendix A
II. Annual fee for members and associate members of the Association is:
.1 a member who is an individual $900.00 $925.00

III. The annual fee for Licence to Practice of a firm $400.00

III. The annual fee for Licence to Practice of a firm $400.00 $425.00

2017 SAA Bylaw Amendments
R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 6.03.1.2
A member of council or a member of a committee of the council is
entitled to the allowable expenses set forth in
.2 herein while engaged in the business of the Association.
.1 The President or his/her designate is entitled to be
reimbursed for his/her traveling, living and accommodation
expenses at annual general meetings and special general
meetings.
.2 Allowable expenses shall be according to the current
schedule, authorized by the government of Saskatchewan
for its employees.

Bylaw 6.03.1.2
A member of council or a member of a committee of the council is entitled
to the allowable expenses set forth in
.2 herein while engaged in the business of the Association.
.1 The President or his/her designate is entitled to be
reimbursed for his/her traveling, living and accommodation
expenses at annual general meetings and special general
meetings.
.2 Allowable expenses shall be according to the current
schedule, authorized by the government of Saskatchewan
for its employees National Joint Council Travel Directive
published by the Government of Canada.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 9.04
The council may nominate a member as a life member where such
person has contributed significantly to the advancement of the
profession. The nomination shall be approved by a four-fifths (4/5)
majority of persons entitled to vote in attendance at a general meeting.
A life member shall enjoy all the rights and privileges of a member. In
the event of the life member no longer residing within the province of
Saskatchewan, he or she shall remain a life member but without the
rights of a member.

Bylaw 9.04
The council may nominate a member as a life member where such person
has contributed significantly to the advancement of the profession. The
nomination shall be approved by a four-fifths (4/5) majority of persons
entitled to vote in attendance at a general meeting. A life member shall
enjoy all the rights and privileges of a member. In the event of the life
member no longer residing within the province of Saskatchewan, he or
she shall remain a life member but without the rights of a member.
.1 Nominees for life membership shall be approved by vote of all
eligible members of the Association in good standing at the time the
individual is nominated. A nomination shall be considered approved
by the membership if the nominee receives approval of two-thirds
(2/3) of the votes cast by members.
.2 Council shall circulate a list of nominees, including biographical
information about the nominee(s), to all members of the Association
no later than 60 days prior to the annual general meeting of the
Association. Voting by members will conclude no later than 30 days
prior to the annual general meeting of the Association.
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2017 SAA Bylaw Amendments
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
A
R

R

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW - Amendments come into force immediately upon being passed by SAA Council and are

subsequently ratified by membership. These amendments must be filed with the Director of Corporations.

REGULATORY BYLAW - Amendments come into force once they have been received and accepted by the Minister of Central

Services and published in The Saskatchewan Gazette.

REGULATORY BYLAW

Bylaw 9.05 Table 1.1 - Leave Types and Conditions – Existing
Leave Type

Duration & Frequency

Practice & Membership Rights

Family/Compassionate

Up to one year, extendable to a maximum of
two years with full membership to resume in
year three. Cycle may be repeated in year four.

Full membership rights, no practice rights

Financial Hardship

Up to one year, extendable to a maximum of
two years with full membership to resume in
year three. Cycle may be repeated in year four.

Full membership rights, no practice rights

General Leave

Up to one year extendable to a maximum of
two years out of 10.

No membership or practice rights

Bylaw 9.05 Table 1.1 - Leave Types and Conditions – Amendment
Leave Type

Duration & Frequency

Practice & Membership Rights

Family/Compassionate

Up to one year, extendable to a maximum of
two years with full membership to resume in
year three. Cycle may be repeated in year four.

Full membership rights, no practice rights

General Leave

Up to one year extendable to a maximum of
two years out of 10.

No membership or practice rights

R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 13.02

Bylaw 13.02

Where a firm other than an architectural corporation is constituted for
the practice of architecture, the majority of the directors of the firm must
be registered members of the Association. If at any time the majority of
directors are not members of the Association, the Licence to Practice of
the firm may be automatically terminated.

Where a firm other than an architectural corporation is constituted for
the practice of architecture, the majority of the directors of the firm must
be registered members of the Association. If at any time the majority of
directors are not members of the Association, the Licence to Practice of
the firm may be automatically terminated. The firm shall file with the
Association any and all proposed alterations or amendments to its
incorporating documents, partnership agreement, bylaws, or to its
structure, and shall obtain the approval of council thereto before
effecting any such change.
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R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 21

Bylaw 21

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees
to be charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended,
according to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the
baseline rate for such charges as of February 1, 2016 shall be not
less than $167 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the
architect’s post-registration experience, to a maximum of $258. It
is understood that this hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics
Canada Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar
year for the personal service of the architect plus disbursements and
salaried costs at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that
annual indexing adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of
the year following, or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall
include the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project,
plus the architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions
and benefits related thereto, which include all contributions made with
respect to Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada
Pension and all other statutory benefits and shall include sick leave,
holidays, vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall
include the design and general review of all engineering services
including structural, mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an
architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she has
special knowledge and experience the suggested rate for such
consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according
to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the baseline rate for
such charges as of February 1, 2016 2017 shall be not less than $167
$170 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s postregistration experience, to a maximum of $258 $262. It is understood
that this suggested hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics Canada
Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar year for the
personal service of the architect plus disbursements and salaried costs
at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that annual indexing
adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the year following,
or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall includes the salary
of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the architect’s
cost of mandatory and customary contributions and benefits related
thereto, which include all contributions made with respect to Workers’
Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension and all other
statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, holidays, vacations,
pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall include the design and
general review of all engineering services including structural, mechanical,
electrical and the like. Where an architect is consulted with regard to
matters of which he/she has special knowledge and experience the
suggested rate for such consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 27.01.2.3

Bylaw 27.01.2.3
.2 A licensed firm may shall:
…
.3 publicly erect a sign bearing the licensed firm’s name and address
at the site of projects in which the firm is participating.

.2 A licensed firm may:
…
.3 erect a sign bearing the licensed firm’s name and address at the
site of projects in which the firm is participating.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 31.02

Bylaw 31.02

In order to maintain eligibility for annual licence renewal, an architect
must demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Association, that the
mandatory continuing education requirements have been satisfied.
Failure to demonstrate completion of these requirements will result in
the licence not being renewed, or being renewed on such terms and
conditions deemed appropriate by the Association

In order to maintain eligibility for annual licence membership renewal,
an architect must demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Association, that
the mandatory continuing education requirements have been satisfied.
Failure to demonstrate completion of these requirements will result in the
licence membership not being renewed, or being renewed on such terms
and conditions deemed appropriate by the Association.
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Financial statements

Saskatchewan Association of Architects
Unaudited - See review engagement report
December 31, 2017
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Independent Practitioners' Review engagement report

To the Members of
Saskatchewan Association of Architects
We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Saskatchewan Association of Architects, that
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the statements of operations, changes
in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Practitioner's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our review. We
conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements, which
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.
A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily consisting of
making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures,
and evaluates the evidence obtained.
The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Accordingly,
we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.
Conclusion
Based on our review nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial statements do
not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Saskatchewan Association of Architects as at
December 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
April 12, 2018
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Statement of financial position

As at December 31

Unaudited - See review engagement report
2017

2016

$

$

Assets
Current
Cash
Short-term investments - unrestricted [note 3]
Short-term investments - internally restricted for the School of Architecture [note
3]
Short-term investments - internally restricted for Bursary (Note 3)
Accounts receivable
GST receivable
Total current assets
Long-term investments - unrestricted [note 4]
Capital assets [note 5]

59,351
146,066

69,967
142,047

85,731
84,120
4,534
3,413
383,215
213,371
71,276
667,862

138,561
114,120
3,847
4,071
472,613
163,105
114,290
750,008

32,022
85,731
117,753

44,589
138,561
183,150

71,276
394,713
84,120
550,109
667,862

114,290
338,448
114,120
566,858
750,008

Liabilities and net assets
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities [note 6]
Deferred contributions [note 7]
Total liabilities
Commitments [note 8]
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted net assets
Internally restricted net assets
Total net assets

See accompanying notes
On behalf of the Board

President

Date:
2018.04.13
15:49:59
-06'00'

Secretary -Treasurer

President

Secretary - Treasurer
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Statement of operations

Year ended December 31

Unaudited - See review engagement report

Revenue
Annual dues and application fees
School of architecture levy [note 7]
Conference
Reinstatements and other penalties
Investment income [note 9]
Other income
Other membership

2017

2016

$

$

514,675
126,950
83,884
15,125
12,371
9,640
1,700
764,345

500,762
3,590
100,949
42,183
7,504
36,681
1,300
692,969

Excess of revenue over expenditures
Amortization

1,993
2,845
63,741
750
6,114
15,767
21,011
9,845
4,858
15,744
2,845
37,278
36,810
360,014
30,296
126,950
1,219
738,080
26,265
(43,014)

778
30,485
65,237
8,641
9,817
8,517
47,041
8,486
22,663
7,073
32,322
34,680
374,488
12,263
1,987
839
665,317
27,652
(44,608)

Deficiency of revenue over expenses

(16,749)

(16,956)

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion
Advocacy
Conference
Bad debts
Bank charges
CALA interprovincial meeting
CALA assessments
Council
Member
Office
Other
Professional fees
Rent
Salaries and employee benefits
Scholarships and awards
School of architecture expenses
Utilities

See accompanying notes
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Statement of changes in net assets

Year ended December 31

Unaudited - See review engagement report
2017
Balance,
beginning of
year

Deficiency of
revenue over
expenses

$

Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted
Internally restricted

114,290
338,448
114,120
566,858

$

(16,749)
(16,749)

Purchase of
capital assets
$

-

Amortization

Amounts
internally
restricted

$

$

(43,014)
43,014
-

30,000
(30,000)
-

Balance,
end of year
$

71,276
394,713
84,120
550,109
2016

Balance,
beginning of
year

Deficiency of
revenue over
expenses

$

Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted
Internally restricted

157,308
302,386
124,120
583,814

Purchase of
capital assets

Amortization

Amounts
internally
restricted

$

$

$

$

(16,956)
(16,956)

1,590
(1,590)
-

(44,608)
44,608
-

10,000
(10,000)
-

See accompanying notes
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Balance,
end of year
$

114,290
338,448
114,120
566,858

Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

Unaudited - See review engagement report
2017

2016

$

$

(16,749)

(16,956)

43,014
(4,034)

44,608
2,504

(687)
658
(12,566)
(52,830)
(43,194)

(1,532)
(4,071)
(33,820)
67,479
(5,496)
52,716

32,578
32,578

(795)
(1,590)
(112,798)
(115,183)

(10,616)
69,967
59,351

(62,467)
132,434
69,967

Operating activities
Deficiency of revenue over expenses
Items not affecting cash
Amortization
Unrealized loss (gain) on investments
Net change in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable
GST receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred contributions
GST payable
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Investing activities
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to capital asset
purchases
Purchase of capital assets
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net decrease in cash during the year
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
See accompanying notes
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Notes to the financial statements

December 31, 2017

1.

Unaudited - See review engagement report

Nature of organization

Saskatchewan Association of Architects (the "Association") operates under the guidelines of The Architects Act,
1996 and is mandated to ensure the protection of the public interest and to regulate and advance the profession of
architecture in the province of Saskatchewan. The Association qualifies as a tax exempt entity from income taxes
under section 149 of the Income Tax Act.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Part III of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada ("CPA") Handbook - Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations, which sets out generally
accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit organizations in Canada and includes the significant accounting
policies summarized below.
Financial instruments
Equity instruments quoted in an active market are recorded at fair value. Fixed income instruments are initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently recorded at amortized cost. Transactions are recorded on a trade date
basis and transaction costs are expensed as incurred.
Other financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, GST receivable and accounts payable and
accrued liabilities are initially recorded at their fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, net of
any provisions for impairment.
Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization. The Association provides for amortization using
the following methods at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated useful lives.
The annual amortization rates and methods are as follows:
Equipment
Leasehold improvements

20% - 55% Declining balance
Lease term Straight-line

Revenue recognition
The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recognized
as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue when received or receivable when the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection
is reasonably assured.
Annual dues are set by the Council and are recognized as revenue over the period to which they relate.
Annual general meeting revenue is recognized when the event is held.
Other income and other membership revenues are recognized in the period earned.
Investment income, which consists of interest, mutual fund distributions, and realized and unrealized gains and
losses, is recorded in the statement of operations when earned.

1
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Notes to the financial statements

December 31, 2017

2.

Unaudited - See review engagement report

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty. The effect of changes in
such estimates on the financial statements in future periods could be significant.

3.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments - unrestricted

Money market funds
Guaranteed investment certificates
Mutual funds

2017

2016

$

$

9,654
53,346
83,066
146,066

16,079
47,587
78,381
142,047

The guaranteed investment certificates mature within the next fiscal year and bears interest at a weighted average
rate of 2.36%.
Short-term investments - internally restricted
Restricted short-term investments consist of money market funds.

4.

Long-term investments - unrestricted

Long-term investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates that mature in more than one year and have a
weighted average interest rate of 2.31%.

5.

Capital assets

Cost
$

Equipment
Leasehold improvements

6.

62,774
195,644
258,418

Accumulated
amortization
$

50,296
136,846
187,142

2017
Net book
value
$

12,478
58,798
71,276

2016
Net book
value
$

16,363
97,927
114,290

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $7,047 (2016 - $6,232) of government remittances payable.

2
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Notes to the financial statements

December 31, 2017

7.

Unaudited - See review engagement report

Deferred contributions

Deferred contributions primarily consists of contributions that were received for the purpose of establishing a school
of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in future years. Revenue of $127,590 has been recognized at
year-end. Remaining balance is unspent at year-end.

Balance, beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Amounts recognized as revenue during the year
Balance, end of year

8.

2017

2016

$

$

138,561
74,120
(126,950)
85,731

71,082
71,069
(3,590)
138,561

Commitments

The Association has committed to support activities undertaken to progress the development of the proposed
school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in the amount of $140,306.
The Association has committed to a minimum annual office lease payment of $39,312 in 2018.

9.

Investment income

Interest
Mutual fund distributions
Unrealized loss (gain) on investments

2017

2016

$

$

7,686
651
4,034
12,371

6,383
3,625
(2,504)
7,504

10. Financial instruments
Credit risk
The Association is exposed to credit risk in connection with its accounts receivable and its investments due to the
risk that one party to the financial instrument may cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge
an obligation.
Liquidity risk
The Association is exposed to the risk that it will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its
financial liabilities and commitments.
Interest rate risk
The Association is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in fixed income investments and
money market and mutual funds that hold fixed income securities.

3
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Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Notes to the financial statements

December 31, 2017

Unaudited - See review engagement report

10. Financial instruments (continued)
Price risk
The Association is exposed to price risk through changes in market prices (other than changes arising from interest
rate) in connection with its investments in mutual funds.

11. Comparative figures
The financial statements have been reclassified, where applicable, to conform to the presentation used in the
current year. The changes do not affect prior year earnings.

4
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2018 SAA BYLAW AMENDMENTS

79

2018 SAA Bylaw Amendment to be Ratified by Membership
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
A
R

A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW - Amendments come into force immediately upon being passed by SAA Council and are

subsequently ratified by membership. These amendments must be filed with the Director of Corporations.

REGULATORY BYLAW - Amendments come into force once they have been received and accepted by the Minister of Central

Services and published in The Saskatchewan Gazette.

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 6.01

Bylaw 6.01
6.01 The Council shall meet at such times and places and in such ways
as may be by them directed, provided, however, they shall meet at least
four times yearly.
.1 Six members of the council shall constitute a quorum of the council.
.2 Council meetings may be held in person or via
videoconference or audioconference.
.3 Voting on matters by council may be conducted:
(a) at a meeting of council; or
(b) with the authorization of the President, by a vote
conducted by videoconference, audioconference, email,
or other electronic means.
.4 Subject to .1 above, decisions of the council shall be made by a
majority of the council members voting in accordance with .3, above.

6.01 The Council shall meet at such times and places and in such ways
as may be by them directed, provided, however, they shall meet at least
four times yearly.
.1 Six members of the council shall constitute a quorum of the
council.

2018 SAA Bylaw Amendment
R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 21
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according
to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the baseline rate
for such charges as of February 1, 2016 shall be not less than $167
per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s postregistration experience, to a maximum of $258. It is understood that
this hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics Canada Consumer Price
Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar year for the personal service
of the architect plus disbursements and salaried costs at 3.0 times the
payroll. It is further understood that annual indexing adjustments shall
be implemented on February 1 of the year following, or as soon as is
practically possible. “Payroll” shall include the salary of the architect’s
personnel engaged on the project, plus the architect’s cost of mandatory
and customary contributions and benefits related thereto, which
include all contributions made with respect to Workers’ Compensation,
Employment Insurance, Canada Pension and all other statutory benefits
and shall include sick leave, holidays, vacations, pensions and the like.
“Disbursements” shall include the design and general review of all
engineering services including structural, mechanical, electrical and the
like. Where an architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/
she has special knowledge and experience the suggested rate for such
consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

Bylaw 21
As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according
to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the baseline rate for
such charges as of February 1, 2017 2018 be not less than $170 $173
per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s postregistration experience, to a maximum of $262 $266. It is understood
that this suggested hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics Canada
Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar year for the
personal service of the architect plus disbursements and salaried costs
at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that annual indexing
adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the year following,
or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” includes the salary of
the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the architect’s
cost of mandatory and customary contributions and benefits related
thereto, which include all contributions made with respect to Workers’
Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension and all other
statutory benefits and shall include sick leave, holidays, vacations,
pensions and the like. “Disbursements” include the design and general
review of all engineering services including structural, mechanical,
electrical and the like. Where an architect is consulted with regard to
matters of which he/she has special knowledge and experience the
suggested rate for such consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.
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